




AGENDA ITEM NO. ____ 

Presentations 

DATE: February 7, 2023 

FROM: Joselynn Castillo, City Secretary

ITEM: Proclamation for Coach Roger Adame for Becoming Mercedes’ High School’s All-Time 

Winningest Coach 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
The City of Mercedes wants to honor Head Coach Roger Adame for becoming the school’s all time-
winningest coach. Coach Adame has been coaching for over 9 years, and this past football season he was 
able to pull off his 63rd win topping Herman L. Schmalzried who coached the Tigers in the 1920’s.  

BOARD REVIEW/CITIZEN FEEDBACK:  Choose an item. 

ALTERNATIVES/OPTIONS:   

FISCAL IMPACT:    

Proposed Expenditure/(Revenue): Account Number(s): 

Finance Review by:  

LEGAL REVIEW:   

ATTACHMENTS: 

Staff Recommendation:  

5B

1



MERCEDES CITY COMMISSION 

REGULAR MEETING 

JANUARY 17, 2023 – 6:30 P.M. 

MERCEDES CITY HALL – COMMISSION CHAMBERS 

MEMBERS PRESENT: Oscar D. Montoya Mayor 

Joe Martinez  Mayor Pro-Tem 

Jacob Howell  Commissioner 

Armando Garcia Commissioner 

Ruben Saldana Commissioner 

STAFF PRESENT: Alberto Perez  City Manager 

Martie Garcia-Vela City Attorney  

Joselynn Castillo City Secretary 

Javier Ramirez Asst. City Manager 

Ervin Vilchis  I.T Liaison

Kristine Longoria Human Resources

Nereida Perez  Finance Director

Michelle Muniz Asst. Library Director

Richard Morin  Recreation Director

Javier Campos  Fire Chief/EMC

OTHERS PRESENT: Orlando Diaz, Francisco Sanchez, Salvador Gonzalez, Ruth Valdez, 

Javier Gracia, Juan Vega Jr., Narciso Escobedo, Antonio Trevino, Ricardo Rodriguez, Rodolfo 

Zuniga, Isidro Lopez, Samuel Ochoa, Brianna Casares, Adrian Sauceda, Oscar Lopez, Ruben 

Gutierrez, Jose Hernandez, Nelda Longoria 

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER

Mayor Montoya welcomed everyone and called the meeting to order at 6:30 P.M.

2. ESTABLISH QUORUM

Four members of the Commission were present which constitutes a quorum. Mayor Pro-

Tem Martinez arrived during the recognition of Ricardo Rodriguez.

3. INVOCATION

Commissioner Saldana said the invocation.

4. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

Commissioner Howell led in the pledge of allegiance.

At this time, Mayor Montoya stated item 5 will be followed by item 8B and postpone Item

8A.

5. PRESENTATIONS:

a. PROCLAMATION FOR LLANO GRANDE FIRST RESPONDERS FOR THEIR

COMMUNITY EFFORTS IN ASSISTING THE MERCEDES FIRE

DEPARTMENT EMS

Fire Chief Campos informed the Commission about the volunteers assisting the first

responders and assisting the community. Fire Chief Campos presented an award to the

Llano Grande First Responders. Mr. Rich spoke on behalf of the Llano Grande

Community and thanked the Commission for the great honor. Mayor Montoya

Item 7A

2



proceeded to read the proclamation to the Llano Grande First Responders. At this time, 

the Commission moved to Item 8B.  

6. OPEN FORUM

- Mr. Ramon Mejia read a verse from the bible. He expressed his concern about police

officers that have not been paid for Elida Fest and the Commission have not done

anything to correct the issue. He stated that TML states that becoming an officer of

the city, the commission is responsible that employees must be adequately paid. He

stated that the Mayor is in law enforcement and does not follow the law. Mayor

Montoya informed him to not speak about certain employees. Mr. Mejia stated a

police report was filed.

- Mr. Aurelio Garcia stated there was rumors about him getting indicted for helping

Mr. Joaquin Hernandez. Someone let him know that he cannot be accepting money

from Mr. Joaquin Hernandez. He stated he spoke to the Mayor about someone

tagging him on Facebook. Mr. Garcia stated that Mayor Montoya accepted money for

his campaign from Mr. Hernandez. Mr. Garcia stated that the claims are not true and

he will be filing a police report.

- Mr. Joaquin Hernandez spoke in Spanish. Mr. Hernandez asked about how to address

the Commission about employees. Mayor Montoya explained to Mr. Hernandez that

the employees cannot defend themselves therefore citizens cannot speak about the

employees. Mr. Hernandez asked why there was no contract done for Elida Fest and

asked how can the City hire a contractor without a license to operate. Ms. Garcia-

Vela stated that the officers were not working for the city during the event. Mr.

Hernandez stated that the city should not hire someone without a license for contract

work and added the company in question is Municipal services.

- Mr. Roel Galvan Jr. expressed his concern with the fee for the usage of the fields. He

stated that the little league cannot operate at $200+ for usage of the fields. He stated

that the ordinance is in the works and added that they would not be able to operate

with those fees. He added that all the coaches are volunteers. He explained the fees

that the little league needs to pay. Mr. Galvan stated that little league rules do not

allow them to turn away a child even for non-payment.

- Mr. Jaime Contreras signed up. Mayor Montoya called 3 times but was not present at

the meeting.

7. CONSENT AGENDA

a. Approval of Minutes for Meeting(S) Held December 20, 2022 And December 27,

2022

b. Approval of Budget Amendment 2223-06 For Baseball Field Lighting

c. Approval of the 1st Quarterly Finance Report

Mayor Pro-Tem Martinez motioned to approve Item A and C and discuss 7B separately

and then discuss Item 10A. Commissioner Garcia seconded. Upon a called vote, motion

passed unanimously. Mr. Ramirez stated that the budget amendment is to address the

issue of a conduit that was damaged when a vehicle was driving in the back area which

is now restricted. Mr. Ramirez stated that they have already hired an electrical engineer

to do an assessment of the area. Mayor Pro-Tem Martinez motioned to approve item 7B

of the budget amendment. Commissioner Saldana seconded. Upon a called vote, motion

passed unanimously. At this time, the Commission moved to item 10A.

8. CITY MANAGER COMMENTS:

3



a. Recognition of Tiger Football Players Xavier Sanchez & Ty Trevino.

This item was postponed.

b. Recognition of Employee Ricardo Rodriguez

Mayor Montoya thanked Ricardo Rodriguez for his 41 years of service with the City

and shared some memories he has with Mr. Rodriguez. Mayor Montoya presented him

with a plaque for his service. Mayor Pro-Tem Martinez arrived during this item. No

action required. At this time, the Commission proceeded with the order of the agenda

and moved back to item 6.

c. Update on Parks Lifeguard Training (Commissioner Howell & Garcia)

Commissioner Howell would like to bring the lifeguards early to have a successful

summer year. Mr. Richard Morin and Lee Puckett discussed their plans to certify

lifeguards. Mr. Morin state that they have already started advertising and are preparing

to upgrade the aquatics program this year. Mr. Puckett stated that getting lifeguards is a

problem that every city has struggled with. Sign-ups begin in March for certification

and then training in April at the pool. Commissioner Howell wants to make the pool is

popular again and would like the pool fees to go back to the city for the pool. Mr.

Puckett expressed that people are not applying and being outside versus being indoors

with a higher pay is more appealing to applicants. Mr. Puckett state that their goal is to

be open for the public, Monday, Wednesday, and Friday. No Action required.

9. ORDINANCES/RESOLUTIONS: Present, Discuss, Consider and Possibly Take Action Regarding:

a. Approval of Resolution 2023-01 and Agreement for the Temporary Closure of

State Right-Of-Way for the 84th Annual RGV Livestock Show Parade

Mayor Pro-Tem Martinez motioned to approve. Commissioner Garcia seconded. Upon

a called vote, the motion passed unanimously.

b. Approval of First Reading of Ordinance 2023-01 Calling the Election for the 2023

City Commission Elections for Mayor, Place 1, and Place 3

Commissioner Howell motioned to approve and forego the reading. Commissioner

Garcia seconded. Upon a called vote, the motion passed unanimously.

c. APPROVAL OF FIRST READING OR ORDINANCE 2023-02 REGARDING

THE UPDATED ANIMAL CONTROL SERVICES

Mayor Pro-Tem Martinez motion to approved and forgo the reading. Commissioner

Garcia second. Mayor Po-Tem Martinez discussed the enforcement process for selling

animals. Commissioner Howell would like commission to consider possibly allowing

owning chickens inside city limits in the future. Mr. Perez state that aside from our

animal control leaving to other cities, they are lacking equipment but its in the works to

acquire the proper equipment. Commissioner Saldana thanked Mr. Perez for working to

get the proper equipment for Animal Control. Mayor Montoya state that there were

more dog bites in Mercedes than there was in Sheriff’s Department, and added that it’s

not just reactive but this concerns the safety of citizens. Legal stated that this ordinance

was prepared with issues that are affecting smaller and larger cities. Upon a called vote,

the motion passed unanimously.

10. MANAGEMENT ITEMS: Present, Discuss, Consider and Possibly Take Action Regarding:

a. Approval to Direct City Manager to Secure Funds for Repairs to Collier Park

Press Box and Create A Team Up Mercedes Event

Mayor Pro-Tem Martinez stated that Commissioner Howell and Garcia placed this item

on the agenda. Commissioner Howell stated that sports are a big part of his life and

4



stated that the press box is in poor condition and would like to create the Team Up 

Mercedes to gather volunteers to help rebuild the press box. He stated if management 

can find funds to set aside for the repairs to that press box. Mayor Pro-Tem Martinez 

would like to reach out to businesses and organizations that can help with the repairs. 

Mr. Javier Gracia stated he did an assessment of the fields when he started and 

identified some issues. He stated the 2 truckloads cost about $500 and only covered 1 

field. Mr. Gracia stated he did not have a total cost to repair the parks but gave an 

estimate of $20,000. Mayor Pro-Tem Martinez stated that if the City gets sponsors then 

their business can be advertised at the fields. Mayor Montoya asked for staff to put 

together a strategy to see what staff can do, cost assessment, and what volunteers can 

do to help. Mr. Perez stated that there are people from the outside coming in to make a 

profit and there has been scheduling issues. Mr. Perez also added that the parks need 

breaks for the field to recover and stay in good shape. Mr. Perez stated that park fees is 

another component to help get funding for the fields. Mayor Montoya suggested putting 

a committee together that consist of staff and one commissioner to tackle the issues. 

Commissioner Howell motioned to approve with the Team Up Mercedes event. Mayor 

Pro-Tem Martinez seconded. Commissioner Saldana stated to get a short list of the 

items needed to make work this year and then start planning for the following year. 

Upon a called vote, the motion passed unanimously. At this time, the Commission 

proceeded with the agenda and moved to item 8C.  

b. Approval of New Appointment and Re-Appointment of Members to the Keep

Mercedes Beautiful Committee.

Commissioner Saldana motioned to approve staff recommendation and appoint Ms.

Lisa Cantu to fill the vacancy. Mayor Pro-Tem Martinez seconded. Upon a called vote,

the motion passed unanimously.

c. Approval of the Acquisition of A 40’ By 100’ Tract of Land for the Installation of

a Regional Lift Station

Mr. Ramirez stated the Commission has a survey for a tract of land near the chick-fil-a.

The owner has volunteered to give the land to the City for the lift station to Capisallo

Terrace. Commissioner Garcia motioned to approve. Commissioner Howell seconded.

Upon a called vote, the motion passed unanimously. Commissioner Howell stated he

was proud to proceed with helping Capisallo Terrace. At a question, Mr. Ramirez stated

that the condition was for the city to not charge certain fees at which the city does not

currently have those fees. Mr. Ramirez stated this is a health and safety issue for the

residents in that area. Mayor Montoya stated that the area has issues all year round. Mr.

Perez stated that they have been working diligently to get this done and ran into road

blocks but fortunately they were able to get this property for the lift station. Mr.

Ramirez stated that they are looking at going out for bids in February for the

construction of the lift station and be in construction 30 days after.  Mr. Perez stated

they have been doing their part to not delay the process once approved. Upon a called

vote, the motion passed unanimously.

11. BIDS/CONTRACTS: Present, Discuss, Consider and Possibly Take Action Regarding:

a. Approval of Waterline Access Agreement with North Alamo Water Supply

Corporation for TARS No. 1 Subdivision

5



Commissioner Howell motioned to approve. Mayor Pro-Tem Martinez seconded. Mr. 

Ramirez stated that the water belongs to NAWS and in order to provide fire service for 

the subdivision TARS No. 1. Upon a called vote, motion passed unanimously. 

b. APPROVAL OF AGREEMENT WITH RETAIL TRENDS, LTD FOR THE

DEVELOPMENT OF CAPISALLO AN IRR TR N319.61’-E1240.04’-W1290.20’

LOT 14 BLK 27 10.30 AC GR 10.09AC NET

Mayor Pro-Tem Martinez motion to approve. Commissioner Garcia seconded. Mr.

Ramirez stated this is the agreement discussed earlier on item 10C. Upon a called vote,

motion passed unanimously.

12. MONTHLY DEPARTMENT REPORTS

a. POLICE DEPT., LIBRARY, FINANCE/COURT, CITY SEC/HR, FIRE DEPT.,

PLANNING

Commissioner Saldana asked about the 50% increase in arrests for PD. Mayor Montoya

stated that UCR only allows certain reports. He asked about the Library Board and

asked about a borrowing of equipment. Ms. Muniz stated that there is no space and that

the library board did not meet in this month. Ms. Perez stated that the council report is

any payment made over $10,000 for the month of December. There was a question

about an item on the finance report at which Ms. Perez stated that was the electricity

bill. There’s a projection of 6.5 mil in sales tax which is the City’s portion.

Commissioner Howell asked about tax revenue and Mr. Perez stated the city has gone

up about $47K.

13. ADJOURNMENT

Mayor Pro-Tem Martinez motion to adjourn. Commissioner Garcia seconded. Upon a called

vote, motion passed unanimously. The meeting adjourned  at 8:02 P.M.

6



ORDINANCE NO. 2023-01 

AN ORDINANCE DECLARING AN ELECTION TO BE HELD IN THE CITY OF MERCEDES, TEXAS 

FOR THE PURPOSE OF ELECTING A MAYOR, COMMISSIONER PLACE #1, AND A 

COMMISSIONER PLACE #3, OF SAID CITY; PROVIDING FOR THE GIVING OF NOTICE OF 

ELECTION; PROVIDING FOR APPOINTING OFFICERS AND SETTING OUT THEIR POWERS, 

DUTIES, COMPENSATION, AND MANNER OF ELECTION; PROVIDING THAT NO 

IRREGULARITY IN SAID NOTICE SHALL INVALIDATE SAID ELECTION; PROVIDING THE 

METHOD OF HAVING THE CANDIDATES’ NAMES PLACED UPON AND WITHDRAWN FROM 

THE OFFICIAL BALLOT; AUTHORIZING AND INSTRUCTING THE MAYOR, CITY SECRETARY 

AND THE CHIEF OF POLICE TO PERFORM THEIR RESPECTIVE DUTIES IN CONNECTION 

WITH SAID ELECTION; PROVIDING FOR A SAVINGS AND REPEAL CLAUSE AND PROVIDING 

FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF MERCEDES, 

TEXAS:  

That an election shall be held in the City of Mercedes, Texas on the first Saturday of May, the same 

being May 6, 2023 for the purpose of electing a Mayor, Commissioner Place #1 and a Commissioner 

Place #3, of said City, such election to be held at the Mercedes Civic Center located at 520 East Second, 

Mercedes, Texas from seven o’clock in the morning until seven o’clock in the evening, and that notice of 

the same shall be given by the City Secretary by posting a properly executed copy of this election 

ordinance and notice for a period of thirty (30) days before the date of said election, or for any period 

required by law at City Hall in Mercedes, Texas, and; 

That the voting at said election shall be by means of voting machines on election day and paper 

ballots for early voting by mail, and by means of voting machine for early voting by personal appearance. 

Early voting shall commence April 24, 2023 at the Mercedes Civic Center, 520 East Second, Mercedes, 

Texas and shall continue until May 2, 2023. 

That the compensation of the presiding judge, alternate judge and clerks shall be set per the contract 

with the Hidalgo County Elections Administrator, the election official who delivers the returns of the 

election immediately after the votes have been tallied shall be paid the rate assigned as judge or clerk for 

that service, and shall also return all election supplies not used with the returns of said election. The 

powers and duties of the aforementioned presiding officers and clerks shall be those prescribed by the 

Texas Election Code.  

That no irregularity in the notice herein provided shall invalidate said notice, and; that any candidate 

for City Commission may have their name placed on the official ballot by complying with the provision 

of the City Charter, and with the pertinent provisions of the Texas Election Code, and; 

That any candidate for the City Commission may name poll watchers as provided in the Texas 

Election Code. 

That the names of all those candidates who have filed their applications to have their name placed on 

the official ballot as candidates shall be posted by the City Secretary at a conspicuous place in the City 

Secretary’s office, from and after which time said application is received. Any such candidate may cause 

their name to be withdrawn at any time from the official ballot before the official ballots are prepared, by 

complying with the pertinent provisions of the Texas Election Code, and  

Item 7B

7



BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that the Mayor, City Secretary, and Chief of Police be and they 

are hereby authorized and instructed to perform their respective duties in connection with said election 

imposed upon them by this Ordinance, the City Charter of the City of Mercedes, Texas, and the Texas 

Election Code, and; 

That if any section, subsection, phrase, sentence, clause or provision of the Ordinance shall be 

declared invalid for any reason, such invalidity shall not affect the remaining provisions of this Ordinance 

or their application to the other persons or sets of circumstances, and to this end, all provisions of this 

Ordinance are declared severally, and Ordinance or parts of Ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed. 

This notice shall become effective in accordance with Article II, Section 2.13 of the City Charter of 

the City of Mercedes, Texas.  

Passed and approved on first reading this the 17th Day of January, 2023. 

Passed, Approved and adopted on second reading this the 7th Day of February, 2023. 

_______________________________ 

Oscar D. Montoya Sr., Mayor 

ATTEST: APPROVED: 

_______________________________ _______________________________ 

Joselynn Castillo, City Secretary Martie Garcia-Vela, City Attorney 

8



ORDINANCE NO. 2023-02

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ANIMAL CONTROL ORDINANCES 2018-19, 2013-12 AND 2015-

04; PROVIDING FOR A PROPER DEFINITION SECTION; PROVIDING FOR ENFORCEMENT 

THEREOF; PROVIDING FOR LICENSING AND RABIES VACCINATION; PROVIDING FOR 

MICROCHIP IMPLANTATION AS OF A CERTAIN DATE; PROVIDING FOR PERMITS FOR 

ANIMAL ESTABLISHMENTS; PROVIDING FOR THE OWNERS’ RESPONSIBILITY 

INCLUDING TETHERING AND CONFINEMENT; OUTLINING WHAT ‘NUISANCES’ ARE AS 

RELATED TO ANIMAL CONTROL; PROVIDING FOR HONORABLE DISPOSITION OF 

DEAD ANIMALS; REITERATING THAT ANIMAL CRUELTY IS UNLAWFUL; PROVIDING A 

PROTOCOL FOR ANIMAL BITES; PROVIDING FOR VICIOUS ANIMAL DECLARATION 

AND THE CONFINEMENT OF SAID VICIOUS ANIMALS; PROVIDING FOR IMPOUNDMENT 

OF ANIMALS; PROVIDING FOR FINES OF VIOLATIONS HEREOF; PROVIDING FOR A 

SEVERABILTY AND CUMULATIVE PROVISION; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 

DATE AND PUBLICATION OF THIS ORDINANCE’S CAPTION. 

WHEREAS, The City of Mercedes, Texas, is a Home Rule City that will, from time to time, 

assess and adopt ordinances for the orderly regulation of certain issues; and, 

WHEREAS, The City of Mercedes has, over the years, adopted several versions of animal 

control regulations to better serve its citizens; and, 

WHEREAS, The City has determined that the previous animal control ordinances are in need for 

re-assessment and enhancement to better serve its citizens. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY OF MERCEDES, COUNTY OF 

HIDALGO, STATE OF TEXAS THAT THE FOLLOWING PROVISIONS SHALL HEREAFTER 

BE ADOPTED, ENFORCED, AND COMPLIED HEREAFTER: 

Section I—Definitions 

Unless otherwise expressly stated, the following words, terms, and phrases, when used in this chapter, 

shall have the meanings ascribed to them in this section: 

Abandon means to fail to adequately provide an animal with one (1) or more of the necessities of life, 

including but not limited to, air, food, potable water, sanitary conditions, shelter, protection from the heat, 

cold, or other environmental conditions, or under other circumstances that may cause bodily injury, 

serious bodily injury, or death of the animal, for twenty-four (24) or more hours, or to leave an animal in 

the care, custody, or control of another person without his or her consent.  

Abuse means an act that continually causes an animal to be overloaded or forced to work or conduct itself 

in a manner unsuitable to its species, breed, condition, or health. 

Item 7C

9



Altered means spayed or neutered. 

Animal means all domesticated and undomesticated living creatures, except humans. This ordinance is 

generally directed for domesticated animals or pets, however, it may also be imposed to other un-

domesticated animals. 

Animal Control Officer means a person designated by the City of Mercedes to receive reports of stray 

animals and pick-up such strays, investigate animal bite reports and general animal nuisance reports, and 

otherwise carry out the provisions of Texas law and municipal ordinances and policies relating to animal 

control. 

Animal establishment means any pet shop, grooming shop, animal auction, performing animal 

exhibition, kennel, or animal shelter. This term shall not include veterinary medical facilities, licensed 

research facilities, facilities operated by government agencies, or licensed animal dealers. 

Animal Shelter means any facility designated or recognized by the City of Mercedes for the purpose of 

impounding and caring for animals. 

At large an animal shall be deemed to be at large when off the property of the owner or harbored and not 

under restraint or control. Nothing in this ordinance shall be construed to prohibit the owner of any animal 

from escorting such animal properly leashed to premises other than those of such owner for purposes of 

exercise, visitation, companionship, participation in shows and exhibitions, or treatment and care by a 

veterinarian or kennel for hire to the public; from transporting such animal in an automobile or other 

vehicle; or from training or exhibiting such animal without leash on private premises or public shows and 

exhibition premises, under conditions where such unleashed animals are otherwise restrained from 

leaving such premises. 

Cat means a domestic feline of either sex, including one neutered or sterilized. 

City means the City of Mercedes. 

City enforcement agent means any designee of the city animal control officer, Code Enforcement 

officer, or law enforcement officer that is employed by the city.  

Chief of Police means the head of the police department of the City of Mercedes or a designated 

representative. 

Conviction means a conviction in a federal court or a court of any state or foreign nation or political 

subdivision of a state or foreign nation that has not been reversed, vacated, or pardoned. “Conviction” 

includes disposition of charges against a person by probation or deferred adjudication.  

Cruelty means an overt act committed that harms or needlessly kills an animal or committed out of 

depraved indifference for the animal’s wellbeing, including but not limited to torture, maiming, beating, 

or otherwise committing violence that causes injury or death. 

Dangerous Animal is any dog or other animal which demonstrates a propensity to assault, bite, scratch 

or harass people or other animals without provocation.  

Dog means a domestic canine of either sex, including one neutered or sterilized. 

10



Designee means any person or entity authorized to exercise authority as assigned by the City Manager, 

which may include an animal control officer, Code Enforcement Officer, a police officer, a regional 

entity, and/or a licensed veterinarian.  

Elements means the harsh forces of the whether such as wind, rain, heat, cold, ice, snow, etc.   

Enclosure means a fence or structure suitable to fully prevent the escape of the animal. 

Euthanasia means to put an animal to death in a humane manner. 

Exotic animal means an animal of a non-domesticated species not commonly kept as a household pet. 

Exotic animals may or may not be native to the area and may or may not be governed by existing wildlife 

regulations. 

Extreme Weather means Extreme events or occurrences of unusually severe weather or climate 

conditions that can cause devastating impacts on communities and agricultural and natural ecosystems. 

Weather-related extreme events are often short-lived and include heat waves, freezes, heavy downpours, 

tornadoes, tropical cyclones, floods and hurricanes. 

Fenced yard means an area that is completely surrounded by a substantial fence of sufficient strength, 

height, construction, materials, and design as to prevent: 

(a) any animal confined within from escaping; or

(b) the head of a dog confined within from extending over, under, or through the fence.

Feral means an animal that is wild, untamed, or has no ascertainable owner. 

Harboring means the act of keeping and caring for an animal or of providing premises to which the 

animal returns for food, shelter or care. (Note: Feeding, caring and keeping animals for more than 3 days) 

Humane manner means care of an animal including, but not limited to, adequate heat, ventilation, 

sanitary shelter, wholesome food, sufficient water, and regular personal contact consistent with normal 

caring requirements and feeding habits of the animal’s size, species, and breed. 

Immediate or Immediately means at once and without delay. 

Intact Animal means an animal that has not been surgically sterilized. 

Kennel means a structure or shelter for animals which is enclosed and secure; any person, group of 

persons, partnerships or corporation engaged in keeping a vicious animal, five or more dogs, above the 

age of 6 months or older; or are in the business of boarding, breeding, buying, letting for hire, or the 

training of dogs above 6 months old for a fee, or the selling of any combination of pets; and of which the 

subject site meets one of the following criteria: 

(1) Any building, lot, yard, shed or other place in which five or more dogs, more than six months

old, are kept;

(2) Any building, lot, yard, shed or other place in which a vicious dog will be kept.

NOTE: A kennel’s confinement area for the 5 or more dogs (more than 6 months old) must be a 

minimum of 100’ from the nearest residential structure on adjoining properties. 

11



Notice means by personal service, certified mail (return receipt requested), or a written notice left at the 

entrance to the premises where the animal is harbored. 

Notify and notification unless otherwise stated in this chapter, a requirement to notify the department, 

means to contact the department at 959-565-6147 and speak with an employee of the department or leave 

a voicemail. Notification shall be made immediately, but only as soon as can be done so safely. The 

Mercedes Police Department may be contacted after the hours of 5:00 P.M, weekends, and holidays. 

Neglect means an act involving failure to provide for animal health or safety, including but not limited to 

provide adequate food, water, shelter, exercise, or necessary veterinary care or failure to adequately 

confine an animal in an un-congested manner appropriate to its species, breed, age, and condition. 

Nuisance means an animal that damages, soils, defiles, or defecates on private property other than the 

owner’s or on public walks and recreation areas unless such waste is immediately removed and properly 

disposed of by the owner; causes unsanitary, dangerous, or offensive conditions to surrounding 

properties; causes a disturbance by excessive barking or other noise-making; or chases vehicles or 

molests, attacks, or interferes with persons or other domestic animals on public or private property. 

Livestock and Domestic Fowl means all cattle, cows, calves, bulls, horses, donkeys, mules, sheep, 

swine, rabbit, and goats of every class, whatever, or the young of any such animal. The term domestic 

fowl shall include all chickens, ducks, turkeys, geese, pigeons, guineas, and parakeets, of every class 

whatever, and the young of any such fowl. 

Owner means a person having the right of custody, legal or apparent, of an animal who keeps or harbors 

an animal or knowingly permits an animal to remain on or about any premises occupied by that person. 

Properly fitted means, with respect to a collar or harness, a collar or harness that is appropriately sized 

for the dog based on the dog’s measurements and body weight; does not choke the dog or impede the 

dog’s normal breathing or swallowing; and does not cause pain or injury to the dog. 

Restrain means to control an animal by physical means. 

Restraint means a chain, rope, tether, leash, cable or other device that attaches a dog to a stationary 

object or trolley system. 

Stray means any animal for which there is no identifiable owner or keeper. 

Tethering means to tie (an animal) with a rope or chain so as to restrict its movement. 

Unlawful Restraint – A person who owns or has custody or control of a dog and who uses a chain, rope, 

tether, leash, cable, or other device that attaches a dog to a stationary object or trolley system shall 

comply with Chapter 821, Subchapter D, Section 821.076 through 821.081 of the Texas Health and 

Safety Code, as amended. Dogs must have a properly fitted collar and restraint system as required by 

Subchapter D, Chapter 821 of the Texas Health and Safety Code.  

Vaccinated means properly injected with a rabies vaccine licensed for use in that species by the United 

States of Agriculture, and administered by a veterinarian licensed to practice in the State of Texas. 

Vicious means an animal that without justification attacks a person or domestic animal causing physical 

12



 

 

injury or death or that behaves in a manner that a reasonable person would believe poses an imminent 

threat of serious injury or death to one or more persons or domestic animals. 

Wild animal includes all species of animals which exist in a natural unconfined state and are usually not 

considered domesticated. 

Section 2—Enforcement, Seizures, and Penalties 

(a) The Public Works Director or his/her designee(s) is hereby granted the authority to carry out the 

function of, and to enforce the provisions of this Ordinance, (NOTE: Animal Control personnel is 

under the Public Works Department) 

(b) Unless otherwise provided in this section, the Public Works Director or his/her designee(s), 

inclusive of the Code Enforcement Officer, are authorized to issue a citation to any owner, lessee, 

or occupant of any premises within the City limits for a violation of these regulations. The citation 

issued shall state the alleged violation, the date of the violation, and the section of this ordinance 

allegedly violated. 

(c) Any person who shall violate any provision of this chapter may be issued a notice to appear or 

summons to appear for such violation, and upon conviction, the person shall be deemed guilty of 

a misdemeanor and punished in accordance with Section 16 of the Ordinance. 

(d) City enforcement agents are authorized to seek a warrant or order from a court of competent 

jurisdiction to enforce this chapter, pursuant to all applicable local, state, and federal laws  

(e) City enforcement agents shall have the power to search, seize, and impound an animal with a 

warrant or court order under one or more of the following conditions:  

 (1) when the city enforcement agent has probable cause to believe that the animal creates a 

nuisance as described in Section 1 of this ordinance: 

 (2) when the city enforcement agent has probable cause to believe that the animal has been 

abandoned or is being treated inhumanely as described in this section; 

 (3) when the city enforcement agent has probable cause to believe that the animal has rabies or 

has been exposed to rabies; 

 (4) when the city enforcement agent has probable cause to believe that the animal is not being 

quarantined for rabies observation under appropriate conditions as defined in this section; 

 (5) when the city enforcement agent has probable cause to believe that the animal meets the 

definition of a dangerous animal as defined in section 1; or 

 (6) when the city enforcement agent has probable cause to believe that the animal is being 

possessed or harbored in violation of this section; 

(f) City enforcement agents shall have the power to search, seize and impound an animal without a 

warrant or court order, with probable cause under the following conditions: 

 (1) on public property, in all cases; 

 (2) on private property, if: 

13



 

 

        (a) the consent of the resident or property owner, or someone with apparent authority to    

             consent, is obtained in writing: or  

        (b) exigent circumstances exist, the city enforcement agent reasonably believes that there is  

              imminent danger of serious bodily injury or death to a human being, another animal, or    

              the animal in question, and there is insufficient time to obtain a warrant.  

 (3) upon the request of a peace officer if the owner is not available and there is no one eighteen 

(18) years of age or older to accept responsibility for the animal.  

(g) the city enforcement agent is authorized to use necessary force, including but not limited to 

breaking a vehicle’s window, to make lawful seizures of animals pursuant to this section, subject to 

all local, state, and federal laws and court orders.  

Section 3—Licensing and Rabies Vaccination 

(a) All dogs and cats over the age of 6 months must be individually licensed unless they are: 

1. Residents of the jurisdiction for less than 30 days; 

2. Residents of a veterinary clinic, animal shelter or impoundment facility; or 

3. Residents of a licensed kennel. 

(b) No license shall be issued under this Ordinance unless the application is accompanied by a 

certificate from a veterinarian licensed to practice in any State or territory of the United States in 

accordance with the most prevailing Compendium of Animal Rabies Prevention and Control. 

(c) Cat and dog licenses shall be issued by the Public Works Director or designee upon compliance 

with the requirements of this Ordinance and payment of the required fee of $30, regardless if the 

dog or cat is altered or un-altered. 

(d) The licensing period shall be for 3 years. License renewals may be applied for within 30 days prior 

to the expiration date. New residents must apply for a license within 30 days of establishing 

residence. Renewal fee will be $30 per a three-year period.  

(e) License fees shall be waived for dogs serving the blind or deaf; or trained dogs that are 

government-owned used for law enforcement purposes with proper licensing for service dog. All 

other licensing provisions shall apply. 

(f) Upon acceptance of the license application and fee, the Public Works Director or his/her designee 

shall issue a durable license tag including an identifying number and year of the issuance. Both 

rabies and license tags must be attached to the collar of the dog or cat. Tags must be worn at all 

times and are not transferable.  

(g) In any prosecution under this Code it shall be presumed that at the time of the alleged offense an 

animal was not currently vaccinated, and that no valid license had been issued for the animal, 

unless it was wearing a valid license tag issued pursuant to this section. 

(h) Microchips shall only be required if an animal is found running at large without a microchip and 

the owner is identified. The owner shall pay the cost of the city transporting the animal to the 

14



selected veterinarian for the implantation and, when written certification that the implant has 

occurred and all associated fees and expenses are paid, the animal shall then be released to the 

owner.  

Section 4— Business Permits 

(a) No person shall operate an animal establishment, inclusive of a kennel or a pet shop, without first

obtaining a Business Permit in compliance with this section and all other applicable ordinances,

inclusive of the prevailing Zoning Ordinance.

(b) The Business Permit period shall begin with the first day of the fiscal year and shall run for one

year. Renewal application for permit may be made within 60 days prior to the expiration date.

Application for a permit to establish a new breeding animal establishment may be made at any

time.

(c) The annual Business Permit shall be issued upon payment of the applicable fee: See Fee Chart.

1. For each kennel authorized to harbor a maximum of 6 dogs or cats- $75

2. For each kennel authorized to harbor between 7-12 dogs or cats- $125

3. For each kennel authorized to harbor 13 or more dogs or cats - $175

4. For each pet shop- $75

5. For other animal establishments- $75

(d) Every facility regulated by this ordinance shall be considered a separate enterprise requiring an

individual Business Permit.

(e) The City of Mercedes may revoke any Business Permit or license if the person holding the permit

or license refuses or fails to comply with this ordinance, the regulations promulgated by the State

of Texas, or any other law governing the protection and safe-keeping of animals.

(f) If an applicant is shown to have withheld or falsified any material information on the application,

the City may refuse to issue the Business Permit, or may revoke said Business Permit or license.

(g) It shall be a condition of issuance of any permit for an animal establishment that the City

Enforcement Agent shall be permitted to inspect any and all animals and the premises where such

animals are kept during reasonable and normal business hours. Where a permit is revoked for any

cause of pending appeal of any such action, the City Enforcement Agent shall have the power of

entry on the premises and into all areas where animals are being kept. A person denied a permit

may not re-apply for a period of at least 30 days. Each re-application shall disclose any previous

denial or revocation, and shall be accompanied by the typical filing fee.

(h) No Business Permit shall be issued for the ‘Sale of Animals’ if the proposed site of such sale is on

a roadside or any other outdoor or un-enclosed location.

(i) Any animal establishment shall be kept and maintained in a clean manner, free from odors

detectable at or near neighboring property.

(j) Exemption may be considered to subsection (h) hereof if the sale of the offspring of an owner’s

15



pet takes place on the owner’s premises, and there is compliance with any other applicable 

ordinances. 

Section 5 — Owners’ Responsibility 

(a) It shall be unlawful to allow any animal to run at large within the City. The Public Works Director

or designee is hereby granted the authority to pick up and cause to be impounded any animal

found running at large in the City. The impoundment notice and hearing procedures of this

Ordinance shall apply in the case of any such animal.

(b) Dogs must be securely confined, leashed, or under the control of a competent person at all times.

See Section 6 of this Ordinance.

(c) Cats are not required to be leashed. Owners are responsible for the behavior of their cats so that

they do not become a nuisance. Any owner of a cat that is allowed to be unleashed is liable for

any damages or nuisance caused by such cat. Upon a finding by the court that a particular cat is a

nuisance or causes damages, the court may remove the privilege of allowing a particular cat to be

unleashed or physically unrestrained.

(d) A cat that is allowed to run at large by the owner must be surgically altered, must have a license

and identification tag with the owner's name and correct phone number listed on the tag, and must

not become a nuisance in the city. A cat owner who follows these guidelines shall be responsible

for any damage caused by such cat. A cat that causes nuisance problems or damages away from

the owner's property shall be restricted to its owner's private property.

(e) No animal shall be allowed to cause a nuisance. The owner of every animal shall be held

responsible for every behavior, nuisance-like or otherwise, of such animal under the provisions of

this Ordinance.

(f) Generally. No owner shall fail to provide his animal with good wholesome food and water, proper

shelter and protection from the elements (cold, heat, rain and storm advisories), veterinary care

when needed to prevent suffering, and humane care and treatment. A resident, tenant, and/or

owner shall have the right to keep, harbor, pen, and/or oversee a maximum of 4 dogs over the age

of 6 months old; it is thus prohibited for said resident, tenant, and/or owner to have 5 or more

dogs on their premises unless it is a licensed 'kennel’ meeting the distance

requirement to area residential structures, as defined herein. Any owner of an animal shall

maintain a clean and healthful shelter and living area for any animal being kept, which area shall

be free of accumulated waste, debris, pests, fleas, and ticks so that the animal shall be free to walk

or lie down without coming in contact with such waste, debris, or pests. All such shelters or living

areas must be cleaned and maintained regularly so as to promote proper health for the animals

being kept. The City Enforcement Agent shall have the inherent right to inspect such premises.

(g) No owner shall abandon any animal. Abandonment consists of leaving such animal for a period in

excess of 24 hours without providing for someone to feed, water and check the animal's condition.

No owner shall leave an animal by a roadside or other similar area; or leave such animal on either

public or private property without the property owner's consent and agreement to care for the

16



 

 

animal. If an animal is found so abandoned, such animal may be taken by the City designee and 

impounded in a designated facility, animal shelter, or other facility such as the Humane Society; 

and there confined in a humane manner. Such animal, if taken from private property, shall be kept 

for not less than 72 hours in accordance with the procedures set forth by state laws. If the animal 

is so abandoned, the owner or the person who has been charged with the animal's care shall be 

subject to a citation for violation of this section. 

Section 6 — Animals Kept on Premises, Tethering and Confinement 

(a) Except in licensed kennels meeting the minimum 100’ separation requirement to residential 

structures on adjoining properties, the maximum number of dogs kept on residentially used 

premises shall not exceed 4 after attaining the age 6 months or older. Also, one single litter of 

puppies, aged from birth through 6 months, may be permitted to remain at which time the owner 

will have to comply with Section 5 (f) of this Code. 

(b) Fences for all dogs must be of sufficient height, strength, and structurally sound repair to safely 

contain the dogs on the premises and prevent children from entering the yard or enclosure. Fences 

to confine dogs adjudicated as ‘vicious’ must adhere to additional safety requirements as specified 

in this Code. 

(c) A dog may be tethered only in full compliance with the provision of this section. 

1. No person shall tether a dog using any device that is directly attached to its neck, but 

instead via a tying device attached to a properly fitted collar or harness made of leather or 

nylon, and not be of the choker type. This regulation does not prohibit the proper use of a 

choker collar in the training of dogs; 

2. Dogs cannot be tethered as a primary method of confinement. Tethers can be used as a 

secondary control within an area fenced to prevent children from entering the yard or 

enclosure; 

3. Using a collar exceeding one and a half inches wide for any dog weighing less than 60 

pounds, or using a collar exceeding 2 inches for dogs weighing 60 pounds or more; 

4. Except by using a tying device at least 10 feet in length or five times the dog’s length, 

whichever is longer, with a swivel device on the anchor and collar to prevent tangling, and 

made of 3/16” links of a minimum grade 30 with load limits of 800 pounds for animals 

that weigh between 30 and 80 pounds, and  1/2” links of a minimum grade 30 with a load 

limit of 1,500 pounds for animals that weigh from 80 pounds or greater; 

5. A dog may be tethered using a device that weighs more than 1/8 of the dog's body weight; 

6. A dog may not be kept tethered onto any lamppost, light pole, or other similar 

improvement because such will allow the un-accompanied animal to go into, upon or over 

any sidewalk, alley, street, or any property not belonging to the dog's owner; 

7. A dog may be tethered on its owner’s property for no more than 8 hours per day, but only 

if it has access to water and shelter from the elements at all times; and the owner, keeper 

17



or authorized person is on the premises or within its view and a reasonable distanced 

therefrom; a dog may not be tethered at any time during a heat advisory; or 

8. A dog may be tethered anywhere other than its owner’s property for more than 10

minutes, but only if it is in a safe place and the owner, keeper or authorized person, is

never out of sight of the dog or more than 50 feet away.

9. A person who owns or has custody or control of a dog may not leave a dog outside and

unattended by use of a chain, rope, tether, leash, cable, or other device that attaches a dog

to a stationary object or trolley system that: unreasonably limits the dog’s movement:

between the hours of 10:00 P.M and 6:00 A.M.; or is located within five hundred (500)

feet of a school; or occurs during extreme weather conditions as defined in Subchapter D,

Chapter 821 of the Texas Health and Safety Code.

(d) The premises upon which animals are kept, whether indoors or outdoors, shall be maintained in a

secure, clean and sanitary condition.

(e) No person shall transport or carry on any public roadway any animals in a motor vehicle unless

the animal is safely enclosed within the vehicle, and if traveling in an unenclosed vehicle

(including but not limited to convertibles, pick-up trucks, jeeps, and flatbed trucks), the animal

shall be confined by a vented container or cage, or by chain, rope or other device cross-tied to

prevent the animal from falling or jumping from the motor vehicle or from strangling on a single

leash.

(f) Any failure to comply with this section may result in confiscation of the dog, and citation(s) being

issued against the person in charge of said dog.

Section 7— Nuisances 

(a) Nuisances include but are not limited to frequent running at large, excessive noise, soiling of

public property and of private property not owned or rented by the pet owner, and noxious odors

or unsanitary conditions caused by failure to clean the dog’s resident property.

(b) Dogs must be prevented from causing a nuisance by barking, howling, or yelping in a habitual,

consistent, or persistent manner that continually disturbs the peace of the neighborhood.

(c) Owners must immediately remove feces deposited by their dogs on public property, public and

private right-of-way’s, and private property not owned or rented by the animal owner;

furthermore, owners or the person in charge of such dogs shall remove within a reasonable time

such feces from their own properties (whether owned or rented) should the feces/urine induce an

odor issue that is offensive to the normal senses of adjoining private residents, and as confirmed

by the investigating Animal Control Officer, Code Enforcement Officer, or Health Officer.

(d) The Animal Control Officer, or Code Enforcement Officer, shall investigate each complaint and

may issue a citation to anyone found violating this section.

(e) Dog owners who repeatedly violate nuisance laws will be subject to increased fines and to

requirements that they provide a remedy for the offending behavior or activity. If the violation

18



 

 

involves lack of sanitation on the subject property, Health Officials may also make periodic visits 

to assure that sanitation is maintained. If an extreme unhealthy issue is clearly evident, in addition 

to citations being issued, the Health Official may recommend to the Municipal Court Judge at a 

called hearing that the animals should be removed from the property, either by the owner or 

through an order of confiscation to thus take firm measures to restore a healthy environment. 

Section 8 —Dead Animals 

(a) The City shall provide, by contract or otherwise, for the removal and disposition of animal 

carcasses from the streets, avenues, alleys and other public places of the City. 

(b) It shall be unlawful for any person to throw or place any dead or injured animal or fowl or related 

body part, in or upon any public place within or belonging to the City, the County of Hidalgo, the 

State of Texas, or any property belonging to an irrigation district. 

(c) It shall be unlawful for any person to bury or cause to be buried within the City any dead animal, 

except as provided herein. Any person having in the person’s possession or upon their premises 

any dead animal shall immediately dispose of the animal in any one of the following manners: 

1. Removal from the City for appropriate disposition; 

2. Cremation at a licensed facility; 

3. Disposal at a site or facility certified to accept putrescible wastes; or 

4. Burial on the person's private property at a depth greater than two feet (2’) below ground 

level. 

Section 9 -– Unlawful Restraint of a Dog 

a) An owner may not leave a dog outside and unattended by use of a restraint unless the owner 

provides the dog access to: 

1. adequate shelter; 

2. an area that allows the dog to avoid standing water and exposure to excessive animal 

waste; 

3. shade from direct sunlight; and 

4. potable water 

b) An owner may not restrain a dog outside and unattended by use of a restraint that; 

1. is a chain; 

2. has weights attached; 

3. is shorter in length than the greater of: 

(A) five times the length of the dog, as measured from the tip of the dog’s nose to the 

base of the dog’s tail; or 

(B) 10 feet; or 

4. is attached to a collar or harness not properly fitted. 

19



c) A person commits an offense if the person knowingly violates this section. The restraint of each

dog that is in violation is a separate offense.

Section 10 — Animal Cruelty 

(a) It is unlawful for anyone to beat, cruelty ill-treat, torment, overload, overwork or otherwise abuse

an animal, or cause, instigate or permit any dogfight, cockfight, bullfight or other combat between

animals or between animals and humans.

(b) It is unlawful to breed or train an animal for fighting with any other animal.

(c) Having charge, custody, or possession of any animal or fowl, either as owner or otherwise, and

unjustifiably fail to provide it with proper food, proper drink, proper shelter, proper veterinary

care, and/or with humane care and treatment constitutes animal cruelty.

(d) No person shall leave any animal in any standing or parked vehicle in such a way as to

intentionally, knowingly, recklessly, or with criminal negligence endanger the animal’s health or

safety. Any Animal Control Officer or Police Officer is hereby authorized to use reasonable force,

including the breaking of a window, if the animal’s health or life is at risk where after said animal

shall be impounded. The attending city’s official shall then leave a notice on the vehicle bearing

the name of the officer removing the animal, a telephone number where he/she can be contacted,

and the location where the animal may be claimed by the owner. It is declared that any person

violating this section shall reimburse the City for the full cost and expense incurred by the city in

the care, medical treatment, and impoundment of the animal, including the removal from a vehicle

before regaining possession of the animal.

(e) This section is not intended to contravene the provisions for animal cruelty contained in the Texas

Penal Code.

(f) No method of slaughtering or handling in connection with slaughtering shall be deemed to comply

with the public policy of the United States unless it is humane. In the case of cattle, calves, horses,

mules, sheep, swine, and other livestock, all animals are rendered insensible to pain by a single

blow, or an electrical, chemical, or other means that is rapid and effective, before being shackled,

hoisted, thrown, cast, or cut; or

(g) Any failure to comply with this section may result in confiscation of the animal with citation(s)

being issued against the person(s) found to be in (alleged) violation of this Code.

Section 11 — Prohibited Animals; Distance Requirements 

(a) It shall be unlawful to keep any wild animals inside the City limits unless it is permitted through a

bona fide circus for a temporary stay.

(b) It shall be unlawful to release or to allow any wild or vicious animal to be running at large and un-

restrained.

(c) It shall be unlawful for any person to raise, keep, pen or harbor any livestock or domestic fowl

upon any premises within 200 feet from any residential property, measured to the nearest property

line of such residence (other than that of the occupant of the premises where the same are kept); or

20



 

 

within 200’ from any hotel, church, school, nursing home, daycare, or similar facility, within the 

corporate limits, as measured to said structural improvements where people occupy said structures 

or its auxiliary buildings. This section shall not apply to the raising of livestock temporarily 

harbored pursuant to an exhibit or exposition held within the City, but where such harboring shall 

mandate the approval of the Code Enforcement Officer and the City’s Health Official to assess 

containment, distance to surrounding residents, health control measures, and any historical 

evidence of previous compliance of sanitary management practices. 

(d) All livestock or domestic fowl shall be kept in suitable sanitary pens or enclosures, which shall be 

cleaned daily, and daily disinfected and sprayed with insecticides and kept in such a manner as not 

to become unsanitary offensive or disagreeable to persons of ordinary sensibilities residing in the 

vicinity thereof. The livestock or domestic fowl shall not be kept or maintained so as to breed flies 

or in any manner cause any injury to the health of the public or any person residing in the vicinity 

of said pen or enclosure. 

(e) No person shall import, transport or release or cause to release within City Limits any live animal, 

gamete, viable egg or hybrid of any species listed as invasive to the area by the U.S. Fish and 

Wildlife Service or the Texas Parks and Wildlife agencies, except by authorized permit for 

responsible zoological, educational, medical or scientific purposes. 

Section 12 —Animal Bites 
 

(a) Any wild animal which has bitten a person should be caught and euthanized, and the brain 

immediately submitted to a qualified laboratory for rabies examination. Rodents, rabbits, birds, 

and reptiles are not considered to be transmitters of the rabies virus and should not be submitted 

for laboratory examination for rabies. 

(b) Any dog or cat which has bitten a person shall be quarantined for observation of rabies for a period 

of no less than ten (10) days from the date of the bite. The procedure and place of observation shall 

be designated by the investigating officer or responsible agency. Such confinement shall be at the 

expense of the owner. Stray dogs or cats whose owners cannot be located shall be confined in the 

animal shelter. The owner of any dog or cat which has been reported to have inflicted a bite on a 

person shall, on demand, produce the dog or cat for impoundment, as prescribed in this section. 

Refusal to produce the dog or cat constitutes a violation of this section, and each day of such 

refusal shall constitute a separate and individual violation. 

(c) A dog declared ‘vicious’ which has bitten a person shall be quarantined for observation of rabies 

for a period of no less than ten (10) days from the date of the bite. The fee will be required for 

release of the ‘vicious’ dog. No dog that has been declared ‘vicious’ must have more than two (2) 

violations of this chapter. The dog will be euthanized in a humane manner at the owners expense.  

(d) An animal control officer or Code Enforcement Officer is empowered to issue a citation to the 

owner of a dog or cat which has bitten a person as described in the fee chart below.  

Section 13—Vicious Animal Declaration 

21



(a) An animal that may be suspected of being ‘vicious’ may be investigated by the Public Works

Director or his/her designee. Upon such investigation, if the City finds that the animal’s behavior

and instinct is said to be ‘vicious’, said animal shall be so classified.

(b) No animal may be declared ‘vicious’ for injury or damage sustained by a person who was

committing a willful trespass or other tort upon the premises of the animal’s owner.

(c) No animal may be declared vicious for injury or damages sustained by a person who was teasing,

tormenting, abusing, or assaulting the animal.

(d) No animal may be declared ‘vicious’ for injury or damages sustained If the dog was defending or

protecting its owner from unjustified attack or assault, or was protecting or defending its young or

other animals from harm or attack.

(e) No dog shall be deemed ‘vicious’ simply by its breed.

(f) Within 5 days of declaring an animal ‘vicious’, the Public Works Director or designee shall notify

the animal’s owner in writing of the declaration by personal service. In the alternative, service

may be by certified mail or by posting on the animal owner’s property. The notice shall:

a. Identify the requirements and conditions for maintaining a ‘vicious’ animal as set forth in

Section 14 of this Code; and

b. Order the owner to immediately comply with the confinement and other requirements of

Sections 5 & 6, and advise the owner of his/her right to a hearing under this Section.

(e) The owner of an animal declared ‘vicious’ shall have the right, within 5 days after service of the

notice, to personally serve upon the Public Works Director, designee or the municipal court clerk

a written request for a hearing to contest the ‘vicious’ animal declaration. The City’s recipient

shall then file the hearing request with the Municipal Court where after a hearing shall be held

within a reasonable time therefrom.

(f) The hearing under this section shall be before a Municipal Judge of the City and shall be formal,

and strict rules of evidence shall apply. The owner may be represented by counsel, present oral

and written evidence, and cross examine witnesses.

(g) At the hearing, all interested persons shall be given the opportunity to present evidence of the

issue of the dog's alleged viciousness. Criteria to be considered in a hearing required herein may

include but not be limited to:

1. Provocation

2. Observable behavior of the dog;

3. Site and circumstances of the incident; and

4. Statements from interested parties and/or witnesses.

(h) The Municipal Judge shall issue a decision within two business days after the close of the hearing

under this section and shall notify the owner in writing of the decision.

(i) The Municipal Judge may uphold the ‘vicious’ animal declaration, in which event the owner shall

22



comply with all of the requirements and conditions for keeping a ‘vicious’ animal as set forth in 

Section 14. 

(j) The decision by the Municipal Judge shall be final.

(k) The owner will be responsible for payment of all boarding costs and other fees as may be required

to humanely and safely keep the dog at the animal shelter through the appeals process.

(l) It shall be unlawful by the owner or keeper of a deemed ‘vicious’ dog to not fully comply with the

confinement provisions for such dogs, as regulated in this Code.

(m) Section 822 of the Texas Health and Safety Code, as it may be amended by state law, is hereby

adopted for the city, and such law is referred to, incorporated in this Ordinance and made a part of

this ordinance for all purposes.

Section 14 — Requirements for Keeping a Vicious Animal 

(a) The owner of ‘vicious’ animal shall be subject to the following requirements:

1. Upon designation of a ‘vicious’ dog, owner must acquire a license to keep a ‘vicious’ dog

and pay appropriate fees.

2. Confinement. All ‘vicious’ animals shall be securely confined upon the premises of the

owner indoors or outdoors in a locked enclosure enclosed and locked kennel. Confinement

shall comply with the provisions of Sections 5 & 6.

3. A dangerous dog may be off the owner’s premises or out of its enclosure only if it is

muzzled and restrained by a substantial chain or leash having a minimum tensile strength

of three hundred (300) pounds, and not exceeding four (4) feet in length, attached to a

leather or nylon collar or harness (not a choke chain). The muzzle must be made in a

manner that will not cause injury to the dog or interfere with its vision or respiration, but

must prevent it from biting any person or animal. No person under the age of eighteen (18)

shall be in charge or control of a ‘vicious’ dog. No person physically incapable of

restraining or controlling a ‘vicious’ dog, either due to weight or strength of the dog, shall

be in charge or control of such a dog.

4. The owner shall prominently display a sign on his premises at all entry points warning that

there is a ‘vicious’ dog on the property, as well as on any fenced enclosure, no more than

thirty (30) feet apart, and at each normal point of ingress and egress. These signs shall bear

the words "Beware of Dog" or "Dangerous Dog" in letters at least three and one-half (3 ½ )

inches high, and shall be so placed as to be readily visible to any person approaching the

enclosure. If such required signs are eroded due to sun exposure or weather conditions,

such signs must be immediately replaced.

5. The Municipal Court Judge, in his/her discretion during a related hearing to preserve the

safety of the general public, may require a ‘vicious’ dog to be spayed or neutered.

6. The Animal Control Officer or Code Enforcement Officer, in their discretion, shall have

the authority to make whatever inspections are deemed necessary to ensure that the

23



provisions recited herein are fully complied with. 

7. Prior to a ‘vicious’ dog being sold or given away, the owner shall provide the name,

address, and phone number of the new owner to the Public Works Director. Each owner

shall execute a document acknowledging that said owner is aware of the ‘vicious’ dog

classification, and that said owner shall comply with the requirements of this Code.

8. An owner of a ‘vicious’ dog shall have the option to have said dog humanely euthanized

at his expense by the animal shelter or licensed veterinarian if said owner is unable to

comply with the requirements cited herein.

9. The owner of a ‘vicious’ dog shall present to the Public Works Director or designee proof

that the owner has procured liability insurance or a surety bond in the amount of not less

than one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000.00) covering each dog so declared for any

damage or injury that may be caused by each such ‘vicious’ dog. The liability insurance

policy or surety bond shall contain a provision requiring that the Public Works Director be

notified immediately by the agent issuing the policy or bond, or by the company issuing

the policy or bond, in the event the insurance policy or bond is canceled, terminated, or is

about to expire. The liability insurance, or surety bond, shall be obtained prior to the

issuing of a permit to keep a ‘vicious’ dog, and proof of coverage shall be required each

year for renewal of the license to keep a ‘vicious’ dog.

Section 15 — Impoundment 

(a) Animals owned or harbored in violation of this Code or state law shall be taken into custody by

an Animal Control Officer or other designated official and impounded. Stray animals shall be

similarly impounded.

(b) It shall be unlawful for any person to remove any impounded animal from the animal facility

without the consent of the Animal Control Officer or designated official or agency.

(c) If the owner of an impounded animal is known, immediate notice shall be given to him/her. Any

impounded animal may be redeemed upon payment of fines, license fee where applicable, care

and feeding charges, veterinary charges, rabies vaccination charges and such other costs as set by

the City Commission of the City of Mercedes.

(d) If such animal is not redeemed within three days, it shall be deemed abandoned and may be

placed for adoption subject to payment of the license fee where applicable, impoundment fee,

care and feeding charges, veterinary charges, rabies vaccination charges where applicable, and

such other costs as set forth by the City Commission; if such animal is not redeemed, it may be

humanely euthanized according to facility’s protocol.

(e) If the animal is to be available for adoption, an adoption fee of $25 shall be assessed at the time.

No dog or cat shall be released for adoption as a pet without being neutered. Reasonable

vaccination fees, licensing fees, and veterinary costs may be assessed during the course of

adoption.

(f) The Public Works Director or designee may order the impoundment for destruction of an animal

24



only when the animal: 

1. Has attacked, bitten or injured a human being or domestic animal and the circumstances

indicate that there is a probability of additional similar conduct by such animal.

2. Has been declared a ‘vicious’ animal pursuant to Section 10, and the owner, if any is

ascertainable, has failed to comply with the requirements and conditions for keeping a

vicious animal as provided in Section 13.

3. Poses a threat of serious harm to the public’s health or safety.

(g) The Public Works Director may accept a dog or cat voluntarily forfeited from the confirmed

owner for humane disposal whereby a fee of $260 will be paid for such service.

(h) Any animal impounded for destruction under the provision of this section may be claimed by its

owner only with an order issued by the Municipal Court after a hearing pursuant to this section

and in compliance with any conditions and applicable fees of such an order.

(i) The impoundment of dogs and cats which have inflicted bites on humans shall be for a period

often days for observation and shall not be released until a licensed veterinarian has declared the

animal to be free of rabies.

(j) If a dog or cat dies during the observation period, the Public Works Director shall cause the dog's

or cat's remains submitted for rabies testing.

(k) Any impounded animal on observation may be redeemed after the observation period has ended

and upon payment of the license fee where applicable, care and feeding charges, veterinary

charges, rabies vaccination charges, and other costs as set by the City Commission of the City of

Mercedes. If such animal is not redeemed within three days, it shall be deemed abandoned and

shall be humanely euthanized.

(l) Within 2 business days of any impoundment for destruction under this Code, the Public Works

Director or designee shall notify the animal’s owner in writing (Certified Mail) of the

impoundment. In the alternative, service may be by posting a laminated original letter on the

animal owner’s property. The notice shall advise the owner to his/her right to a hearing. In the

case of stray animals, an attempt to notify the owner is not necessary.

1. The owner of an animal impounded for destruction shall have the right, within 5 days after

service of the notice under this section, to personally serve upon the Public Works

Director or his/her designee, a written request for a hearing to contest the impoundment.

The Public Works Director or designee shall immediately file the request with the

Municipal Court, and a hearing may be held at the next available court date.

2. The impoundment hearing shall be informal, and strict rules of evidence shall not apply.

The owner shall be represented by a counsel; present oral and written evidence, and cross

examine witnesses.

3. The Municipal Judge shall issue a decision within 2 business days after the close of the

hearing under this section, and shall notify the owner and Public Works Director in

25



writing of the decision. 

4. After considering all of the relevant evidence, the Municipal Judge may order the

destruction of the impounded animal or may release the animal to its owner, conditional

on the owner complying with the requirements for keeping a vicious animal as set forth in

this Code.

Section 16 — Penalty for Violations and Redemption Rate after Impoundment 

(a) Any person found guilty of the violation of any provision of this ordinance shall be

punished as published table of fees on the City website.

First violation involving an altered animal $50 

First violation involving an intact animal $50 

Second violation involving an altered animal $100 

Second violation involving an intact animal $100 

Third and subsequent violations involving an altered animal $150 

Third and subsequent violation involving an intact animal $150 

(b) In addition to the fine specified in subsection (a) above, the Municipal Court Judge may sentence

owners, at their own cost, to complete a Responsible Owner Course every time they are found

guilty after a first violation.

(c) In the event the Municipal Court Judge allows community service in lieu of or in addition to the

imposition of a fine, whenever possible such community service shall be served at an animal

shelter or similar institution.

(d) Prior to sentencing, if the owner of an intact animal is found guilty or pleads 'no contest’ to a

violation of this ordinance, and said owner represents that the animal will be altered, the

Municipal Court may reset the sentencing, but only once and for no more than 30 days, for the

purpose of allowing the defendant to present sufficient proof that the animal was altered after the

finding of guilt or entry of the plea of ‘no contest’. Upon presentation of such proof of alteration,

the fines imposed pursuant to this section may be reduced pursuant to the discretion of the

Municipal Court Judge.

(e) For redemption. The person entitled to the possession of any animal delivered to the animal

control center shall be entitled to have the animal delivered to him upon presentation of

satisfactory evidence of ownership, proof of compliance with any other applicable ordinance or

statute governing the release of an animal to such owner, and payment of all applicable charges,

fines, and/or fees, provided such animal is not infected or reasonably believed to be infected with

rabies or any other infectious or contagious disease.

(f) Except as otherwise provided in this Code, the following fees shall be charged for the

impoundment of an animal in the animal control center:

First impoundment of an altered animal  $65

26



First impoundment of an intact animal  $65 

Second impoundment of an altered animal  $120 

Second impoundment of an intact animal  $120 

Third and subsequent impoundment of an altered animal  $175 

Third and subsequent impoundment of an intact animal  $175 

(g) The fees specified above for unsterilized dogs or cats shall apply unless it has been determined by

external examination that the animal had already been sterilized, or the owner presents a

certificate from a veterinarian establishing that the animal had been sterilized.

Section 17 — Severability 

If any portion, section, subsection, phrase, sentence or clause of this ordinance shall for any reason be 

held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the remaining provisions of this ordinance, or their 

application of other persons or sets of circumstances, and to this end, all provisions of other related 

Ordinances that may be in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

Section 18 - Publication and Effective Date 

The caption of this ordinance shall be published in a newspaper of local circulation in accordance to the 

City Charter of the City of Mercedes, Texas; and pursuant to State Law. This ordinance shall become and 

be effective in accordance with the City Charter of the City of Mercedes, Texas and the laws of the State 

of Texas. The fees and enforcement of this ordinance shall become effective March 1, 2023 allowing a 

grace period to inform the public of this ordinance.  

READ, DISCUSSED, AND APPROVED ON THIS THE 7TH DAY OF FEBRUARY IN THE 

YEAR OF OUR LORD, 2023. 

1st Reading: January 17, 2023. 

2nd Reading: February 7, 2023. 

Approved as to Form: ______________________________ 

Martie Garcia Vela, City Attorney 

________________________________ 

Oscar Montoya, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

___________________________ 

Joselynn Castillo, City Secretary 

27



 

 

Fee Chart 

Description Reference Fee 

License and Rabies Section  

Cat and Dog License (3 year period) Sec.3(c) $30 

Designated Facilities processing fee per license issued Sec.3(f) $5 

License to keep a ‘vicious’ dog Sec. 14(a)8 $50 

Business Permits   

For each kennel authorized to harbor a maximum of 6 dogs or cats Sec.4(c)1 $50 

For each kennel authorized to harbor between 7-12 dogs or cats Sec.4(c)2 $100 

For each kennel authorized to harbor 13 or more dogs or cats  Sec.4(c)3 $150 

For each pet shop Sec.4(c)4 $50 

For other animal establishments Sec.4(c)5 $50 

Unlawful Restraints   

Unlawful Restraint of a Dog violation (price is for each separate offense)  Sec. 9(c) $200 

Nuisance   

First violation of nuisance Sec. 7(e) $50 

Second violation of nuisance Sec. 7(e) $100 

Third and subsequent violation of nuisance Sec. 7(e) $150 

Animal Bites   

Dog or Cat bite, with owner per occurrence Sec. 12 $150 

Dog Bite from a ‘vicious dog’ per occurrence Sec. 12 $200 

Impoundment   

Adoption Fee Sec.15(e) $25 

Voluntary Forfeited Animals Sec.15(g) $260 

Tranquilize or euthanize an animal on site  $150 

Quarantine an animal  $250 

Deceased animal impoundment  $45 

Violations Section 16  

First violation involving an altered animal Sec. 16(a) $50 

28



Mercedes shall pay City of Weslaco $65 per animal impounded at City’s shelter.  

Mercedes shall pay City $55 per deceased animal taken to City’s shelter. 

Mercedes citizens seeking to reclaim animals shall pay fee as set by City of Weslaco. 

Mercedes shall pay City of Weslaco $150.00 to tranquilize or euthanize an animal on site. 

Mercedes shall pay City of Weslaco $250.00 to quarantine an animal.  

First violation involving an intact animal Sec. 16(a) $50 

Second violation involving an altered animal Sec.  16(a) $100 

Second violation involving an intact animal Sec. 16(a) $100 

Third and subsequent violations involving an altered animal Sec. 16(a) $150 

Third and subsequent violation involving an intact animal Sec. 16(a) $150 

Redemption Rate after Impoundment Section 16

First impoundment of an altered animal Sec. 16(f) $65 

First impoundment of an intact animal Sec. 16(f) $65 

Second impoundment of an altered animal Sec. 16(f) $120 

Second violation involving an intact animal Sec. 16(f) $120 

Third and subsequent impoundment of an altered animal Sec. 16(f) $175 

Third and subsequent impoundment of an intact animal Sec. 16(f) $175 

29



Page 1 of 14 

ORDINANCE NO. 2023-03 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF MERCEDES, TEXAS (CITY) AMENDING 

ORDINANCE NO. 2022-08; ADOPTING NEW UTILITY RATES FOR WATER AND 

SEWER; IMPLEMENTING A METER-SIZE BASED MINIMUM CHARGE 

STRUCTURE FOR WATER SERVICE; INCREASING MINIMUM CHARGES AND 

VOLUMETRIC RATES EACH YEAR FROM JULY 2022 THROUGH OCTOBER 2026 

AT THE LEVELS INDICATED IN THE RATE TABLES PROVIDED WITHIN THIS 

ORDINANCE, SAID RATE INCREASES TO AUTOMATICALLY GO INTO EFFECT 

ON JULY 1, 2022 AND FOR EACH SUBSEQUENT YEAR THEREAFTER THROUGH 

OCTOBER 2026 UNLESS THE CITY TAKES ACTION TO REVISE THIS 

ORDINANCE; AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO ORDER THE IMPLEMENTATION 

OF THE AMENDED RATE SCHEDULE WITHIN THE CITY’S SERVICE AREA; 

DECLARING A PUBLIC PURPOSE; PROVIDING A REPEALER; PROVIDING FOR 

SEVERABILITY; AND SETTING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

* * * * * *          * 

WHEREAS, the City of Mercedes wishes to amend its utility rate schedule as approved and 

implemented by Ordinance No. 2022-08; and  

WHEREAS, the governing body of the City has determined the rates for providing municipal 

utility services requires adjustment in order to reflect its actual costs and to assure the City’s 

continued financial ability to provide these services; and  

WHEREAS, the water and wastewater systems continue to grow at increased levels each year 

and the expansion, rehabilitation and improvement needs of existing infrastructure is critical; and; 

WHEREAS, funding the water and wastewater system’s capital expansion and improvement 

plans will require the issuance of revenue and other bonds, the repayment of which will come 

primarily from the revenues generated by the respective system’s user fees and charges; now 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF MERCEDES, TEXAS THAT: 

SECTION 1.  AUTHORIZATION The utility rate schedule attached as Exhibit “A” (Exhibit) 

hereto is adopted and approved by the City Commission. The Mayor is authorized to order the 

implementation of the amended rate schedule within the City of Mercedes service area as set forth 

in the Exhibit. Said Exhibit is approved and incorporated herein for all purposes as if fully copied 

and set forth at length.  

SECTION 2.  INCORPORATION OF RECITALS The City Commission finds the recitals 

contained in the preamble to this ordinance are true and correct and incorporates them as findings 

of fact.  

SECTION 3.  REPEALER.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed to the extent of such conflict.  

Item 9A

30



Page 2 of 14 

SECTION 4.  SEVERABILITY.  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase of this 

Ordinance is for any reason held to be unconstitutional or illegal, such decision shall not affect 

the validity of the remaining sections of this Ordinance.  The City Commission hereby declares 

that it would have passed this Ordinance, and each section, subsection, clause, or phrase thereof, 

irrespective of the fact that any one or more sections, subsections, sentences, clauses or phrases 

be declared void; and that in lieu of each clause or provision of this Ordinance that is invalid, 

illegal, or unenforceable there be added by the Mayor as necessary with the approval of the City 

Attorney as to form, and as a part of the Ordinance a clause or provision as similar in terms to 

such invalid, illegal or unenforceable clause or provision as may be possible, legal, valid and 

enforceable. 

SECTION 5.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  The Ordinance shall be effective immediately upon the 

approval of the City Commission.   

READ, DISCUSSED, AND APPROVED ON THIS 7TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, IN THE 

YEAR OF OUR LORD, 2023 

1st Reading: February 7, 2023 

2nd Reading: February 21, 2023 

Approved as to Form: _____________________________ 

Martie Garcia-Vela, City Attorney 

________________________ 

Oscar D. Montoya, Sr. Mayor 

Attest: 

Joselynn Castillo, City Secretary 

31



Page 3 of 14 

Exhibit “A” 

WATER 

(a) Premises connected with water system.  Charges shall be paid by all persons owning or

occupying premises which are connected with the water system in accordance with the following

schedule of rates; and such charges as are hereinafter described are hereby levied and assessed,

as hereinafter provided:

(1) For each defined Customer Class, monthly water rates and charges shall be based on metered

water consumption as described on the following tables scheduled for annual adjustments

beginning on July 1, 2022 and every year thereafter through October 2026.

Meter Sized Based Minimum Monthly Water Charges and Volumetric Rates for Monthly 

Metered Consumption Greater:  

32



Page 4 of 14 

33



Page 5 of 14 

*Meters larger than 2 inches shall be assessed Multi-Family / Small Business Rates.

34



Page 6 of 14 

 
 

35



Page 7 of 14 

36



Page 8 of 14 

37



Page 9 of 14 

38



Page 10 of 14 

 
 

39



Page 11 of 14 

*Meters larger than 1 inch shall be assessed the corresponding regular non-senior rate.

40



Page 12 of 14 

WASTEWATER 

Minimum Monthly Wastewater Charges and Volumetric Rates based on Monthly Metered 

Water Consumption  

41



Page 13 of 14 

42



Page 14 of 14 

43



Resolution #2023-02 

Resolution supporting legislation relating to the provision of 
solid waste disposal services by Hidalgo County 

WHEREAS, access to safe and reliable sanitation services is critical to public health and safety; 
and  

WHEREAS, the provision of sanitation services in rural, unincorporated, and extraterritorial 
jurisdictions of Hidalgo County municipalities is a serious and growing public safety concern; 
and  

WHEREAS, the current sanitation model available to Hidalgo County is ineffective in 
efficiently and effectively providing sanitation services to individuals residing outside of 
incorporated municipalities; and  

WHEREAS, the current Hidalgo County sanitation model costs Hidalgo County taxpayers in 
excess of $8,000,000 annually; and 

WHEREAS, the current Hidalgo County sanitation model costs are expected to grow as 
development continues; and  

WHEREAS, proposed legislation would allow Hidalgo County to: 
1. Create a mandatory sanitation program in the unincorporated areas of the Country.
2. Create a mandatory sanitation program in the unnerved extraterritorial jurisdictions of

municipalities located within the Country.
3. Collect sanitation fees via utility billing
4. Collect sanitation fees via the annual statement of tax-assessor collector
5. Collect reasonable penalties that may not exceed 10% of the service fee

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City of Mercedes supports legislatation 
relation to the provision of solid waste disposal services by Hidalgo County and urges the Texas 
Legislature to pass this bill into law and for the Governor of Texas to sign it into law. 

Approved this 7th day of February, 2023. 

________________________ 
Oscar D. Montoya Sr., 

ATTEST: Mayor 
___________________________ 
Joselynn Castillo, 
City Secretary 

Item 9B

44



AGENDA ITEM NO. ____ 

Bids/Contracts 

DATE: February 7, 2023 

FROM: Javier Ramirez, Assistant City Manager 

ITEM: Resolution adopting the Work Plan for Urban County Program Year 36 (2023) 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  The City of Mercedes has gone through the required public participation on the 

needs assessment cycle for CDBG funding FY 36 (2023).  The City of Mercedes has received a submittal letter of 

request for UC funding from the following organizations: Amigos Del Valle, Inc. in the amount of $15,000 for home 

delivered meals; The Children’s Advocacy Center of Hidalgo County, Inc. in the amount of $2,500 for assisting abused 

and victimized children; Nuestra Clinica Del Valle in the amount of $15,000 for medical and dental services to adults 

and children.  The proposed allocated amount for the Fiscal Year 36 (2023) is $257,515.  The listed table shows the 

current and proposed budget by staff. 

Urban County General Administration $3,000.00 

Street Improvements Project $182,015.00 

Parks Recreation Facilities Improvements $40,000.00 

Senior Services (Amigos Del Valle) $15,000.00 

Abused & Neglected Children (Childrens Advocacy Center) $2,500.00 

Health Services (Nuestra Clinica Del Valle) $15,000.00 

BOARD REVIEW/CITIZEN FEEDBACK:  Approved 

ALTERNATIVES/OPTIONS:   

FISCAL IMPACT:    

Proposed Expenditure/(Revenue): Account Number(s): 

Finance Review by:  

LEGAL REVIEW:   

ATTACHMENTS: 

Staff Recommendation:  Approval of Work Plan and Budget for Urban County Program Year 36 (2023). 

9C

45



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-03 

A RESOLUTION ADOPTING THE WORK PLAN AND 

BUDGET FOR YEAR THIRTY-SIX (36) FOR THE 

URBAN COUNTY PROGRAM. 

WHEREAS, the City of Mercedes is participating in the Urban County Program; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Mercedes conducted a Public Hearing on Tuesday, December 

26, 2023, at 6:30 P.M. at the Mercedes City Hall to solicit public input on community 

needs in compliance with CDBG Requirements’ 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE 

CITY OF MERCEDES, TEXAS THAT: 

The Urban County Program Work Plan and Budget for Year nineteen (36) 2023 is hereby 

adopted as follows: 

Year 36 (2023) 

PROGRAM ACITIVITY BUDGET 

Street Improvements  $182,015.00 

General Administration $    3,000.00 

Park Recreation Facilities Improvements $  40,000.00 

Senior Services (Amigos del Valle)  $  15,000.00 

Abused & Neglected Children (Children’s Advocacy Center) $    2,500.00 

Health Services (Nuestra Clinica del Valle)  $  15,000.00 

Total: $257,515.00 

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED ON THIS THE 7TH DAY OF 

FEBRUARY, 2023. 

(SEAL) __________________________ 

Oscar D. Montoya Sr., 

Mayor 

___________________________________ 

Joselynn Castillo, City Secretary 

46



AGENDA ITEM NO. 

CONSENT ITEM:  

DATE:  02/07/2023 

FROM: Chief Pedro Estrada 

ITEM: Mercedes Police Dept. Reserves 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION: The Mercedes Police Dept has never had an Auxiliary Police Force to 
assist the regular patrol division. These Officers will assist are current officers in events as well as on the 
road to better serve the citizens of Mercedes with a quicker response time. These Officers will be licensed 
by the Mercedes Police Dept, and will be held to the same standards as full-time officers.     

BOARD REVIEW/CITIZEN FEEDBACK: 

ALTERNATIVES/OPTIONS:   

FISCAL IMPACT:  

Proposed Expenditure/(Revenue): Account Number(s): 

$ 

Finance Review by:   

LEGAL REVIEW: Martie Vela 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Policy
2. Resolution
3.
4.

DRAFT MOTION: 

9D

47



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-04 

WHEREAS, The City of Mercedes Police Department has an excellent Police Department; and, 

WHEREAS, The City of Mercedes Police Department could utilize the services of Auxiliary 

Officers who are capable and willing to assist with the delivery of police services; and, 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City of Mercedes approves the following 

guidelines are adopted for the purpose of establishing an Auxiliary Police force to supplement 

the existing Police Department.   

Passed and approved on this the __7th___ Day of _February______________, 2023. 

______________________________

Oscar Montoya, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

______________________________

Joselynn Castillo, City Secretary 

48



1 | P a g e

327  Mercedes Police Department

Policy 

Reserve Officers 

Section 15.01. PURPOSE AND SCOPE 

This policy establishes the guidelines for Mercedes Police Department reserve officers to 

supplement and assist regular full-time police officers in their duties. These officers provide 

volunteer professional and special functions that augment regular staffing levels.  

A. DEFINITIONS

Definitions related to this policy include:

(1). Reserve officer - A person who has been appointed by the Chief of Police to serve as a 

reserve officer.  

B. POLICY

The Mercedes Police Department shall ensure that reserve officers are properly appointed,

trained and supervised and that they maintain the appropriate certifications and readiness to carry

out their assigned duties.

C. RECRUITMENT AND SELECTION

The Mercedes Police Department shall endeavor to recruit and appoint only those applicants

who meet the high ethical, moral, and professional standards set forth by this department. The

Mercedes Police Department will only have a maximum of 10 (ten) reserve officers on the

roster.

1. All applicants shall be required to meet and pass the same pre-employment procedures as

regular police officers before appointment.

D. APPOINTMENT

(1). Applicants who are selected for appointment as reserve officers shall, on the recommendation

of the Chief of Police, be sworn in and take the Oath of Office in accordance with the Oath of

Office Policy and as required for the position.

(2). Reserve officers are considered at-will employees and may be dismissed at the discretion of 

the Chief of Police, with or without cause. Reserve officers shall have no property interest in 

continued appointment. However, if a reserve officer is removed for alleged misconduct, the 

reserve officer will be afforded an opportunity solely to clear his/her name through a liberty interest 

hearing, which shall be limited to a single appearance before the Chief of Police or the authorized 

designee.  

E. IDENTIFICATION AND UNIFORMS

(1). Reserve officers will be issued Mercedes Police Department uniforms, badges and

identification cards. The uniforms and badges shall be the same as those worn by regular full-

time police officers. The identification cards will be the standard Mercedes Police Department

identification cards, with the exception that "Reserve" will be indicated on the cards.

49



2 | P a g e

Mercedes Police Department 

(2) Reserve Officers
A. All reserve officers are required to attend scheduled meetings. Any absences must be
satisfactorily explained to the reserve coordinator.

F. FIREARMS

(1). Reserve officers shall successfully complete department-authorized training in the use of

firearms. Their appointments must be approved by the City prior to being issued firearms by this

department or otherwise acting as reserve officers on behalf of the Mercedes Police Department.

(2). Reserve officers will be issued duty firearms. No reserve officer is permitted to carry a firearm 

other than the firearm that is provided by the Mercedes Police Dept while on duty.  

(3). Reserve officers are required to maintain proficiency with firearms used during their 

assignments. Reserve officers shall comply with all training and qualification requirements set 

forth by the Mercedes Police Dept.  

G. FIREARMS OFF DUTY

(1). A reserve officer shall not carry a firearm while in an off-duty capacity, other than to and

from work, unless he/she possesses a valid license to carry issued by the Texas Department of

Public Safety.

(2). An instance may arise where a reserve officer is assigned to a plainclothes detail for his/her 

assigned tour of duty. Under these circumstances, the reserve officer may be permitted to carry 

a weapon more suited to the assignment, but only with the knowledge and approval of the 

supervisor in charge of the detail.  

(3). No reserve officer is permitted to carry a firearm other than the assigned duty weapon. 

(4). Before being allowed to carry any optional firearm during an assigned tour of duty, the 

reserve officer shall demonstrate his/her proficiency with the weapon.  

H. RESERVE COORDINATOR

(1). The Chief of Police shall delegate certain responsibilities to a reserve coordinator. The

reserve coordinator shall be appointed by and directly responsible to the Patrol Division

Commander or the authorized designee.

(2). The reserve coordinator may appoint a senior reserve officer or other designee to assist in 

the coordination of reserve officers and their activities.  

The responsibilities of the coordinator or the authorized designee include, but are not limited to: 

(1) Assigning reserve officers.

(2) Conducting reserve officer meetings.

(c) Establishing and maintaining a reserve officer callout roster.

(3) Maintaining and ensuring performance evaluations are completed.

50



3 | P a g e

Mercedes Police Department

I. AUTHORITY

Reserve officers shall perform peace officer duties within the scope of their approved training.

Reserve officers:

(1) Perform law enforcement functions and have the authority to arrest on behalf of this

department. 

(2) Shall not exercise law enforcement officer duties when off-duty.

(3) Reserve officers who hold permanent peace officer licenses issued under Chapter
1701,Texas Occupations Code are considered peace officers pursuant to Tex. Code
of Crim. Pro. art. 2.12. 

J. COMPENSATION

Compensation for reserve officers is provided as follows:

(1) Reserve officers shall work as directed by the Chief of Police or the authorized
designee. 

(2) Reserve officers may receive one (1) new uniform annually. All property issued to
reserve officers shall be returned to this department upon termination or resignation. 

(3) Department equipment issued to a reserve officer that has been damaged while in the
line of duty shall be replaced at no cost to the reserve officer. 

(4) The Department may provide hospital and medical assistance to a member of the
reserve force who sustains injury in the course of performing official duties.
Additionally, a reserve officer is eligible for death benefits as provided by Chapter 615, 
Texas Government Code (Tex. Local Gov't Code § 142.003).  

K. PERSONNEL WORKING AS RESERVE OFFICERS

1. Qualified regular department personnel, when authorized, may also serve as reserve officers.

However, this department shall not utilize the services of reserve officers in such a way that it

would violate employment laws or labor agreements (e.g., a detention officer working as a reserve

officer for reduced or no pay). Therefore, the reserve coordinator should consult with the Human

Resources prior to allowing regular department personnel to serve in a reserve officer capacity

(29 CFR 553.30).

L. COMPLIANCE

Reserve officers shall be required to adhere to all department policies and procedures. A copy of

the policies and procedures will be made available to each reserve officer upon appointment. The

reserve officer shall become thoroughly familiar with these policies.

(1) Whenever a rule, regulation or guideline in this Policy Manual refers to a regular

full-time police officer, it shall also apply to a reserve officer, unless by its nature it is

inapplicable.

(2) Reserve officers are required by this department to meet department-approved training

requirements.

51



4 | P a g e

Mercedes Police Department 

(3) Monitoring the field training progress of reserve officers.

(4) Monitoring individual reserve officer performance.

(5) Monitoring overall reserve officer activities.

(6) Maintaining a liaison with other agency reserve coordinators.

M. FIELD TRAINING

(1) All reserve officers shall complete the same department-specified field training as regular

full-time police officers as described in the Field Training Policy.

N. SUPERVISION

(1) Reserve officers may perform the same duties as regular full-time officers of this department

provided, they are under the direct or indirect supervision of a supervisor or officer in charge.

Reserve officers shall never supervise a regular full-time officer.

O. EVALUATIONS

(1) While in training, reserve officers should be continuously evaluated using standardized daily

and weekly observation reports. The reserve officer will be considered a trainee until he/she has

satisfactorily completed training. Reserve officers who have completed their field training should

be evaluated annually using performance dimensions applicable to the duties and authorities

granted to that reserve officer.

P. INVESTIGATIONS AND COMPLAINTS

(1) If a reserve officer has a personnel complaint made against him/her or becomes involved in

an internal investigation, the matter shall be investigated in compliance with the Personnel

Complaints Policy.

Q. TRAINING

(1) The Patrol Lieutenant will ensure that reserve officers are provided with a continuing education

program at least once every 48-month training cycle as required by Texas Commission on Law

Enforcement (TCOLE) (37 Tex. Admin. Code § 218.3).

52



AGENDA ITEM NO. 

CONSENT ITEM:  

DATE:  February 7, 2023  

FROM: Chief Pedro Estrada 

ITEM: Approval of Resolution 2023-05 to adopt the Mercedes Police Departments Explorer 
Program and Policy 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 

The Mercedes Police Explorers is a program established for young adults between the ages of 14 and 20 
that might have an interest in becoming police officers.  This program will allow the youth to assist the 
Police department during events, learn the process of new hires, selections, and have one on one training 
in Patrol, Investigations, and Administration. The program was created by the Boys Scouts of America and 
includes a learning plan. All requirements must be met to participate in this program as indicated in the 
policy.  

BOARD REVIEW/CITIZEN FEEDBACK: 

ALTERNATIVES/OPTIONS:   

FISCAL IMPACT:  

Proposed Expenditure/(Revenue): Account Number(s): 

$ 

Finance Review by:   

LEGAL REVIEW: Martie Vela 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Resolution
2. Mercedes Police Explorer Policy
3.

DRAFT MOTION: 

9E

53



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-05 

WHEREAS, The City of Mercedes will be hosting the Police Explorers Program to provide an 

opportunity for youth, ages 14-20, interested in becoming law enforcement officers to have 

hands-on experience and training with the Mercedes Police officers and engage in community 

service events in the City of Mercedes; and, 

WHEREAS, The City of Mercedes desires to formally recognize and establish the Police 

Explorer Program to be offered by the Mercedes Police Department; and, 

WHEREAS, The City of Mercedes finds that the services being offered through the Police 

Explorers Program and through this resolution serve a paramount public purpose and are in the 

best interest of public health, safety, welfare, convenience, and morals of the citizens of 

Mercedes; and, 

WHEREAS, The City of Mercedes Commission finds that this Resolution is in the best interests 

of the public health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of Mercedes. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City of Mercedes approves the 

establishment of the City of Mercedes Police Explorer program, which will provide opportunities 

for youth ages 14 through 21. Interested in law enforcement to have hands-on experience with 

the Mercedes Police Officers 

Passed and approved on this the _7th____ Day of _February______________, 2023. 

______________________________

Oscar Montoya, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

______________________________

Joselynn Castillo, City Secretary 

Grant Number: 

54



Mercedes Police Department 

Police Explorers

Section 6.20. PURPOSE AND SCOPE 

This Mercedes Police Department Explorer Program is a Police Department function that is intended to 

educate youth and young adults between the ages of 14-20 who have a genuine interest in public service as 

a peace officer.  The program will consist of a comprehensive program of education, training, and practical 

experiences including character development, physical fitness, good citizenship, and patriotism. Through 

their involvement in the program, Explorers will develop an awareness of the purpose, mission, and 

objectives of the Mercedes Police Department. The Chief of Police, Executive leadership team, Program 

Board, Mercedes Police Law Enforcement Officers, Election Review Board and adult volunteers will guide 

these young men and women with leadership skills to further the mission of the program; to mold them into 

contributing citizens of the community and to instill them with peace officer skills for their future careers. 

A. PROGRAM OBJECTIVES

• To provide a program of training that educates youth and young adults on the purpose, mission,

and objectives of the Mercedes Police Department and Texas Peace Officers.

• To provide an opportunity for service, practical experiences, competition, and recreation.

• To help prepare the Explorer to become better citizens and community members through

character development, physical fitness, good citizenship, patriotism, academia, and practical

experiences.

B. PROGRAM REQUIREMENTS

The Mercedes Police Department Explorer Program is open to youth and young adults between the ages 

of 14-20.  

All Explorers under the age of 18 must provide executed parental consent allowing them to participate in 

the program, along with a signed release(s) of liability. The following requirements must also be met: 

i. Must not have prior convictions (felony or misdemeanor) for a criminal offense or a serious

traffic offense.

ii. Must maintain a minimum of a 2.0 cumulative grade point average (GPA) in high school or

college to remain in the program.

iii. All applicants must be of sound moral character

iv. All applicants must pass background and oral board

C. PROGRAM DIRECTORS

The Mercedes Police Department Explorer Program will consist of a program directors and assistant

program directors assigned by the Chief of Police. The Program Director will report directly to the Chief

of Police or his designee regarding all activities and functions regarding the Explorer program. It will be

incumbent upon the program director to follow the following protocols:

• Establish a rules and regulations manual (in accordance with this policy) that shall be approved by

the Chief of Police and signed by all new Explorers prior to acceptance into the program including:

i. Provide the Chief of Police or his designee with a monthly calendar regarding

Explorer Functions

ii. Upon receiving a request for appearances from any entity notify the Chief of Police

or his designee of said request for pre-approval

iii. Ensure attendance at any functions assigned by the Chief of Police or his designee

iv. Ensure that a Police Department representative is present at all Explorer-related

functions

55



v. Register the organization as a non-profit and obtain an EIN Number

vi. Open a bank account under the non-profit under the Mercedes Police Department

vii. Meet once a month with the Chief of Police or his designee regarding the program at

which time they will provide:

a. Information on any special projects.

b. Monthly Financial reports.

c. Accomplishments

d. Goals

e. Collaborate with the Mercedes Police Department on events (including holiday

events) at the direction of the Chief of Police or his designee.

f. Ensure that a yearly banquet is conducted for the Explorers to include an awards

program. Such banquet shall be planned in collaboration between the post

advisors and volunteer advisors.

Sec 6.21 PROGRAM BORAD 

1. Chief of Police

The Chief of Police is responsible for the explorer posts and all its members. 

2. Program Director

The Program director is appointed by the Chief of Police as the designee to run day-to-day 

operations at the Explorer post as well as make sure that the Chief of Police is aware of all 

personnel matters and upcoming events.  The program director must be a full-time peace officer 

with the Mercedes Police Department.  

3. Assistant Program Director

The Assistant Program director is appointed by the Chief of Police as the designee to assist the 

program director to run day-to-day operations at the Explorer post as well as notifying the Chief 

of Police and Program Director of all personnel matters and upcoming events.  The assistant 

program director must be a full-time peace officer with the Mercedes Police Department.  

4. Volunteer Advisor(s)

The Volunteer Advisor(s) consist of three (3) or more adult men and women who serve as 

volunteer advisors. They shall be in communication with the parents of the participating explorers 

and the program director. The Post volunteer advisors shall help the explorers with funding 

raising and other duties at designated events.   

5. Volunteer Treasure

The Volunteer Treasurer is appointed by the Chief of Police as the designee to handle all 

explorer money and assist with the management of the bookkeeping of the program.  The 

volunteer treasure must be a full-time peace officer with the Mercedes Police Department. 

Sec. 6.22 EXPLORER REQUIREMENTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES 
56



 

 

The Duties of an explorer include but are not limited to the following: 

a. Preform all assignments and duties professionally 

b. Respond punctually to and be prepared for all assignments 

c. Act in a professional manner, maintaining high ethical and moral standards 

d. Maintain a harmonious relationship with fellow explorers, members of this Department, 

and the members of the community 

 

Sec 6.23 PROBATION 

 

All Explores will be on a six (6) month probation period and failure to pass the probation 

period will result in the removal from the program. 

 

Sec 6.24 ATTENDANCE 

All Explores must-attend meetings, training, and events that have been scheduled. If an 

explorer cannot attend the event or the training that has been scheduled, he or she must 

notify their supervisor using the chain of command and give the reason that he or she 

cannot attend in writing. 

 

Sec 6.25 CHAIN COMMAND 

ALL Explores will follow the chain of command. The Chain of command is as follows: 

1. Chief of Police 

2. Program Advisor 

3. Assistant Program Advisor 

4. Captain  

5. Lieutenant  

6. Sergeant- Treasurer  

7. Sergeant- Secretary   

8. Sergeant -Squad    

 

Sec 6.26 RANKING EXPLORER QUALIFICATION 

 

To qualify for elected office, Explorers cannot be on suspension or on probation and must 

be a member of the explorer post, in good standing, for at least one year.  

 

Sec 6.27 RANKING EXPLORER RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

A. EXPLORER CAPTAIN: (Elected)  

1. Youth Leader of the explorer post 

2. Presides at the post explorer officer’s meetings 

3. Coordinates the administration and operations of the post with chain of command 

4. Implements the training program through the officers and members  

5. Sets the example for other explorer members  

6. Distributes assignments; assists with fundraising coordination 

7. Provides updates to Chief of Police and Program Advisor  

8. Maintains finance updates to Police Chief and Program Advisor 

9. Provides leadership for explorer members 

 

B. EXPLORER LIEUTENANT (Elected) 

1. Ensures orders and directives are transmitted and understood from Captain to Explorers 

57



2. Guides and assists explorer squads

3. Fills in when the explorer Captain is not present and distributes assignments

C. EXPLORER SEARGENT-TREASURER (Elected)

1. Maintains the explorer post financial records

2. Collects and disburses post funds

3. Maintains the post-budget

4. Keeps the Police Chief, Program Advisor, and Explorer Captain informed of post

finances

5. Jointly Maintains the post bank account with the volunteer treasure

D. EXPLORER SEARGENT- SECRETARY (Elected)

1. Maintains explorer post records

2. Directs explorer post publicity and communications

3. Maintains explorer post correspondence and minutes

4. Writes letters on behalf of the explorer post that must be approved by Police Chief,

Program Advisor and Explorer Captain.

E. EXPLORER SERGEANT - SQUAD (Appointed)

1. Prepares training and organizes training the squad as a unit

2. Accountable for squad equipment & inventory

3. Maintains squad discipline & schedule of physical fitness

4. In the absence, assumes the duties of the Explorer Lieutenant

5. Ensures orders and directives are understood by explorers

Sec 6.28 VOTER ELIGIBILITY 

To be eligible to vote for Explorer Post Officers, Explorers must be in good standing. 

Suspended members of the post are not eligible to vote.  

Sec 6.29 ELECTION REVIEW BOARD 

A. The function of the Election Review Board is to ensure that candidates seeking election to

officer positions within the post must meet the qualifications outlined in this policy.

Explorers will cast their ballot and will be allowed to vote one time in each election.

B. The Members of the election board are as followed.

• The Chief of Police

• Post Advisor

• Assistant Post Advisor

• Other designees approved by the Chief of Police

Sec 6.30 DISCIPLINARY ACTION 

If a complaint is found to be sustained, disciplinary action will be taken. Depending on the 

severity of the violation involved and the Explorers past record, such action could include 

but will not be limited to: 

A. Verbal reprimand

B. Written reprimand

C. Suspension 58



D. Loss of privileges

E. Lowering of rank/loss of elected position

F. Termination from the Explorer Post

Sec 6.31 EQUIPMENT 

All Equipment that is Explorer Post property and that is issued by the Mercedes Police 

Department will be kept in good condition and in working order. Any equipment that is 

damaged or needs to be replaced will advised to a supervisor using the chain of 

command.    

Sec 6.33 UNIFORMS AND GROOMING 

    All Explores shall maintain a neat, clean appearance. Explorers shall keep their 

uniforms clean, pressed and shoes shined and in good condition. Explorers shall keep their 

hair clean and cut in a neat manner. Poor grooming or improper wearing of the uniform or 

its accessories will be considered grounds for disciplinary action. 

A. All uniforms and equipment shall be maintained in a clean, serviceable condition

and shall be ready for immediate use.

B. Grooming Male/Female Explores

 Unless authorized by a supervisor in writing explorers on duty shall maintain a 

neat, well-groomed appearance and shall style their hair according to the following 

guidelines: 

1. Hair must be clean neat and combed; hair shall not be worn longer than the top of the shirt collar at the

back of the neck when standing for males.   Hair must be clean, neat, and combed (tucked away in a ponytail

or bun).  The bulk or length of the hair shall not interfere with the normal wearing of all standard headgear.

2. Hair shall not extend over the ears for males.

3. Sideburns shall be neatly trimmed and not extend below the lobe of the ears.

4. Explores shall be clean and shaved. Mustaches may be worn as long as they do not extend below the

upper lip line.

Sec 6.32 RIDE-ALONG PROGRAM 

A. Explores will be allowed to ride along with a Mercedes Police Officer upon execution of a

waiver of liability signed by the explorer; if the explorer is a minor, the parent or guardian

shall execute a waiver of liability signed on the minor’s behalf.  The ride along will be for

the purpose of explaining patrol procedures and an introduction to the field

B. Explorers are prohibited from doing the following:

i. Getting off at calls for service and or traffic stops

ii. Handling any equipment that is not authorized for them to use during the ride along

Sec 6.33 VERBAL ABUSE, HARRASSMENT 

Explorers are prohibited from verbal abuse toward each other and it is prohibited to harass 

59



any explorer regardless of rank, members of this department, or the members of the 

community they serve.    

 

Sec 6.34 FRATERNIZATION    

 

The Mercedes Police Department does not condone and will not permit fraternization 

between Explorers and their adult leaders or other affiliated adults. This applies to all 

members. Fraternization is not morally appropriate, nor is it in keeping with the relationship 

between youth members and adult leaders prescribed in the program of this department. 

Prohibited Fraternization between explorers and adult leaders/ other affiliated adults includes 

direct text messages, use of social media platforms such as snap chat, Tik Tok, Facebook, 

Instagram, or any other public or private medium.  Communication in this manner is 

prohibited. All communication should be through chain of command and through official 

Mercedes Police Department approved medium only.   

 

 

Sec 6.35 USE OF DRUGS AND MEDICATIONS 

 

 Explorers will not have in their possession of any controlled substance, narcotics, or 

hallucinogens except when legally prescribed by a physician or dentist. When an Explorer 

is taking prescribed medication and when such medication could affect performance, the 

explorer will notify the Post Advisor  immediately with a note from the prescribing 

physician to be placed in the explorer file. 

 

Sec 6.36 USE OF ALCOHOL   

 

Explorers shall not violate state laws with the regard to the use, possession, or 

consumption of alcohol. The Department policy and the policy of the boy scouts of 

America prohibit the use of alcohol and  drugs during any and all explorer functions.  

 

Sec 6.37 GIFTS, GRATUITIES, PRIVILEGES 

 

Explorers will not directly or indirectly solicit or accept any gratuities, loans, gifts, 

merchandise, meals, beverages, or any other thing of value in connection with or as a result 

of their official position. Explorers will not use their official position or identification card 

to obtain privileges not otherwise available to them.  

 

 

  

60



1 

RESOLUTION 2023-06 

A Resolution of the City of Mercedes, Texas endorsing and 

supporting the Mid-Valley Marathon to encourage improved overall 

health for the community. 

WHEREAS, the City of Mercedes, Texas was approached by organizers of the Mid-Valley 

Marathon for support of their efforts in bringing awareness to the Mid Valley of the importance 

of exercise and diabetes; and  

WHEREAS, the Mid-Valley Marathon is proposed to begin in Donna, Texas with the runners 

going through the cities of Donna, Weslaco, Mercedes, La Feria , Palm Valley with the final 

destination in Harlingen, Texas. 

WHEREAS, the City of Mercedes recognizes the importance of exercise and diabetes awareness; 

and  

Regular physical activity is one of the most important things you can do for your health. Being 

physically active can improve your brain health, help manage weight, reduce the risk of disease, 

strengthen bones, and muscle, and improve your ability to do everyday activities.  

WHEREAS, compared with people who do not have diabetes, people with diabetes are more likely to have 

a heart attack or a stroke, and they can also have heart attacks at a younger age. When this happens, heart 

attacks can be more severe and more deadly.  By keeping your ABCs under control, you can lower your 

risk of these problems. 

Adults who sit less and do any amount of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity gain some health benefits. 

Only a few lifestyle choices have as large an impact on your health as physical activity. 

NOW, THEREFORE, to show strong commitment and support of the Mid-Valley Marathon, and the fight 

against diabetes, the City of Mercedes, hereby takes the initiative to assist in making this marathon a 

success, 

AND FURTHER, ask the cities of Donna, Weslaco, La Feria, Palm Valley, Harlingen and Cameron 

County, to also show their support and commitment to the Mid-Valley Marathon by acknowledging 

approval by the elected officials of the respective cities on this day 7th, of February, 2023. 

CITY OF MERCEDES 

___________________________ 
Oscar D. Montoya Sr., Mayor 

ATTEST: 

_______________________________ 
Joselynn Castillo, City Secretary 

61



10A

62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



AGENDA ITEM NO. 

CONSENT ITEM:  

DATE:  02/07/2023 

FROM: Chief Pedro Estrada 

ITEM: Approval of Memorandum of Understanding between the City of Mercedes and Texas 
Anti-Gang Center (TAG) 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION: A Mercedes Police Dept will assign an officer to THE Texas Anti-Gang 
Center (TAG), but will still work out of the Mercedes Police Dept.. The purpose of placing an Officer with 
TAG is to be able to share information with other law enforcement agencies (ex. DPS, H.S.I, F.B.I,) and 
other state and federal agencies as well. By placing an Officer with TAG, The Mercedes Police will be able 
to use all equipment from the agency.     

BOARD REVIEW/CITIZEN FEEDBACK: 

ALTERNATIVES/OPTIONS:   

FISCAL IMPACT:  

Proposed Expenditure/(Revenue): Account Number(s): 

$ 

Finance Review by:   

LEGAL REVIEW: Martie Vela 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Memorandum of Understanding (TAG)
2.
3.

DRAFT MOTION: 

10B

78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



CITY OF MERCEDES 

SPONSORSHIP AT THE 
RIO GRANDE VALLEY LIVESTOCK SHOW 

MARCH 9-19, 2023 
For the cost of POLICE personnel valued at $8000, The Rio Grande Valley 
Livestock Show & Rodeo will provide: 

1. Gold Sponsorship Level
2. Include City of Mercedes logo  in the 84th Annual RGVLS Magazine.
3. Include City of Mercedes logo on the Sponsor Tripod Sign Texas

Ave.
4. Include City of Mercedes logo on Social Media Thank you sponsor

post.
5. Include City of Mercedes logo on www.rgvls.com
6. Include City of Mercedes as an event sponsor. (Event TBD)
7. City of Mercedes Banners and signage on fences (sponsor to

provide)
8. Sponsor Banquet and Gold level award
9. Usage of the Police Wood Building
10. Tickets:

1. 12 season gate tickets or 48 single day passes (select season or
single)

2. 12 tickets to PRCA Bullriding
3. 12 tickets to PRCA Thursday Rodeo
4. 6 Parking Permits

Item 11A

141

http://www.rgvls.com/


This “Sponsorship Agreement” is made and entered into as of the date written below by and between: 
 [Rio Grande Valley Livestock Show] ,  a non-profit organization, and (“the Sponsor”) 
 As part of this agreement, The Sponsor has agreed to provide financial support to the Recipient subject to the terms and conditions 
laid out in this agreement.  
2. Sponsorship Fee
2.1. Subject to the provisions of this agreement and to the Recipient performing its obligations hereunder and in consideration of
the rights granted by the Recipient to the Sponsor, the Sponsor agrees to pay a Sponsorship Fee as written on sponsorship page.
2.2 Subject to the provisions of this agreement all monies will be paid prior to the event and
upon such date of [September 30th, 2021]. If monies has not been received by the Recipient,
contract will be cancelled effective immediately.
2.3 Failure to Open Exhibit. In the event that the premises of the Venue are destroyed or
damaged, or the event fails to take place as scheduled or is interrupted and/or
discontinued, or access to the premises is prevented or interfered with by reason of any strike,
lockout, injunction, act of war, act of God, terrorism, emergency declared by any government  agency, or for any other reason, or if
sponsor doesn’t show up for whatever reason this contract may be terminated by the Rio Grande Valley Livestock Show. In the
event of such termination, Sponsor waives any and all monies to be returned by Rio Grande Valley Livestock Show.
2.2. The Recipient acknowledges and confirms that, save as otherwise expressly recorded in this
Agreement; the Sponsor shall not be liable to the Recipient or any other person for any
additional cost or expense besides the annual Sponsorship fee.
4. The Sponsor’s Obligations
4.1 In exercising the said rights and licenses, the Sponsor shall, subject to receiving appropriate invoices, pay the recipient the
Sponsorship fee when the same falls due for payment as set out
in Clause 2.
4.2 Sponsor Exhibit Indemnification. Sponsor assumes entire responsibility and hereby agrees to
protect, indemnify, defend and hold harmless RGVLS and the Venue and their respective
officers, directors, members, employees, and agents against all claims, losses, and damages to
persons or property, governmental charges or fines, and attorneys’ fees arising out of or caused
by Sponsor’s installation, removal, maintenance, occupancy or use of the exhibition premises or
a part thereof, excluding any such liability caused by the sole negligence of RGVLS or the Venue.
In addition, Sponsor acknowledges that neither the RGVLS or the Venue maintains insurance
covering Sponsor’s property and that it is the sole responsibility of the Sponsor to obtain
business interruption and property damage insurance covering such losses by Sponsor. Sponsor
shall be fully responsible to pay for any and all damages to property owned by RGVLS or the
Venue, its owners or managers which results from any act or omission of Sponsor.
5. The recipient’s Exercise of Rights

The Recipient shall not use any of the rights granted herein and shall ensure that no member of
the Recipient shall make any public statement in a manner which, in the reasonable opinion of
the Sponsor, is or might be prejudice or defamatory to the image and reputation of the sponsor.
6. Renewal
The Recipient agrees to give the Sponsor first refusal to renew this agreement, with an option to
withdraw after one year if the terms of the Sponsorship deal are not being met.
7. Entire Agreement
This Agreement represents the entire agreement between the parties in relation to the subject
matter of this Agreement and supersedes any previous agreement, whether written or oral,
between the parties in relation to that subject matter.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, duly authorized representatives of each of the parties have executed
this Agreement as of the Effective Date.

Business Name:_____________________________________________________________ 

Sponsor Signature:___________________________________________________________ 

Rio Grande Valley Livestock Show Rep:___________________________________________ 

Date:_________ 

142



Item 11B

143



144



145



146



147



148



149



11.5 Notice. Except as may be otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement, all notices, 
demands, requests or communications required or permitted hereunder shall be in writing and shall 
either be (i) personally delivered against a written receipt, or (ii) sent by electronic mail, or (iii) 
sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid and addressed to the 
parties at the addresses set forth below, or (iv) sent by facsimile to the parties at the addresses set 
f01ih below, as may have been theretofore specified by written notice delivered in accordance 
herewith: 

If to County: 

With copy to: 

Ifto City: 

County of Hidalgo 
Attention: County Judge 
100 E. Cano, 2nd Floor 
Edinburg, TX 78539 
(956)318-2600

Hidalgo County Budget Officer 
505 S. McColl Rd. Suite G 
Edinburg, Texas 78539 
(956)292-7025

-And-

Ms. Linda Fong 
Hidalgo County Auditor 
2808 S. Bus. Hwy 281 
Edinburg, Texas 78539 
(956)318-2511

Oscar D. Montoya, Jr. 
Mayor 
City of Mercedes
400 S. Ohio Ave. 
Mercedes, TX 78570 
(956)565-3114

Each notice, demand, request or communication which shall be delivered or mailed in the 
manner described above shall be deemed sufficiently given for all purposes at such time as it is 
personally delivered to the addressee or, if mailed, at such time as it is deposited in the United 
States mail. 

11.6 Additional Documents. The pmiies hereto covenant and agree that they will execute such 
other and further instruments and documents as are or may become necessary or convenient to 
effectuate and carry out the te1ms of this Agreement. 

ICA - Hidalgo Co. & City of Mercedes Paramedic Initiative 
Page 8 of 11

150



151



WITNESS THE HANDS OF THE PARTIES effective as of the day and year first written above. 

CITY OF MERCEDES 

Oscar D. Montoya, Sr., Mayor 

APPROVED AS TO FORM FOR COUNTY: 

Toribio" 

ICA - Hidalgo Co. & City of Mercedes Paramedic Initiative 
Page 10 of 11

THE COUNTY OF HIDALGO 

152



153



EMAIL

arpa.hidalgocounty@co.hidalgo.tx.us
WEBSITE

hidalgocountyarpa.com

Hidalgo County

State and Local Fiscal
Recovery Funds

Subrecipient Monitoring Policy

154



Hidalgo County • Department of Budget & Management

American Rescue Plan Act 2022

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Table of Contents
Policy Overview 2

Subrecipient Monitoring Policy 2

Statutory Eligible Uses 3

Award Limits 3

Subrecipient Monitoring Procedures 4
Pre Award 4
Post Award 5
Annual Award Stage Risk Assessment 6
Continuous Analysis 7
Annual Site Visit 9

Procedures for On-Site Monitoring of Administrative, Financial and Programmatic
Elements of the Subaward 9
Procedures for Documentation and Corrective Action 10

Subaward Closure 11

Exhibit A 13

Exhibit B 14

Exhibit C 17

Exhibit D 19

Exhibit E 20

Exhibit F 21

Exhibit G 22

Exhibit H 25

Exhibit I 28

Exhibit J 29

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
(956) 292-7025   •   www.hidalgocountyarpa.com     1

155



Hidalgo County • Department of Budget & Management

American Rescue Plan Act 2022

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Policy Overview
The Hidalgo County American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) Program and the Auditor’s O�ce,
respectively, will be responsible for monitoring the programmatic and financial activities of
subrecipients to ensure proper stewardship of federal funds. The following policy, roles and
procedures address responsibilities and qualifications required to be potential subrecipients of
State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds (SLFRF). The outlined policy and procedures will assist
Hidalgo County in ensuring that all subrecipients comply with and exceed performance goals.
Hidalgo County will also monitor all subrecipients to certify compliance with the applicable
grant award special conditions and federal and state laws and regulations.

Subrecipient Monitoring Policy
Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200 Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost
Principles and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (2 CFR 200) Uniform Guidance,
specifically 200.332 (Exhibit J), requires pass-through entities to

● Evaluate each subrecipient’s risk of noncompliance in order to determine the
appropriate monitoring level;

● Monitor the activities of subrecipient organizations;

● Ensure that the subaward is in compliance with applicable Federal statutes, regulations
and terms of the subaward and;

● Verify that subrecipients are audited as required by Subpart F of the Uniform Guidance.

Hidalgo County, as the direct recipient of the federal award, is required to provide evidence of
due diligence in reviewing the ability of a subrecipient to properly meet the objectives of the
subaward and account for the use of funds.

SLFRF recipients that are pass-through entities, as defined under 2 CFR 200.1, are required to
manage and monitor their subrecipients to ensure compliance with requirements of the SLFRF
award pursuant to 2 CFR 200.332.

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
(956) 292-7025   •   www.hidalgocountyarpa.com     2

156



Hidalgo County • Department of Budget & Management

American Rescue Plan Act 2022

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Statutory Eligible Uses
Recipients of SLFRF have substantial discretion to use the award funds in the ways that best suit
the needs of constituents – as long as such use fits into one of the following four statutory
categories:

1. To respond to the COVID-19 public health emergency or its negative economic impacts;
2. To respond to workers performing essential work during the COVID-19 public health

emergency by providing premium pay to eligible workers of the recipient that are
performing such essential work, or by providing grants to eligible employers that have
eligible workers who perform essential work;

3. For the provision of government services, to the extent of the reduction in revenue of
such recipient due to the COVID–19 public health emergency, relative to revenues
collected in the most recent full fiscal year of the recipient prior to the emergency; or

4. To make necessary investments in water, sewer, or broadband infrastructure.

The U.S. Department of the Treasury released an interim final rule in May 2021 and the final rule
on January 6, 2022 to implement these eligible use categories and other restrictions on the use
of funds under the SLFRF program.

It is the recipient’s responsibility to ensure all SLFRF program award funds are used in
compliance with these requirements. In addition, recipients should be mindful of any additional
compliance obligations that may apply – for example, additional restrictions imposed upon
other sources of funds used in conjunction with SLFRF award funds, or statutes and regulations
that may independently apply to water, broadband and sewer infrastructure projects. Recipients
should ensure they maintain proper documentation supporting determinations of costs and
applicable compliance requirements, and how they have been satisfied as part of their award
management, internal controls and subrecipient oversight and management.

Award Limits
1. Subrecipients must obligate 100% of the funds before December 31, 2024.

2. Subrecipients will have until December 31, 2026 to perform and complete proposed
projects and programs.

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
(956) 292-7025   •   www.hidalgocountyarpa.com     3

157



Hidalgo County • Department of Budget & Management

American Rescue Plan Act 2022

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Subrecipient Monitoring Procedures

Pre Award

1. Subrecipient must first apply and obtain or provide a Unique Entity Identifier (UEI).

2. Subrecipients must submit a Letter of Intent to the Hidalgo County American Rescue
Plan Act Program.

3. Program sta� will perform a search on SAM.gov, an o�cial U.S. government website
that acts as a database for entities that wish to conduct business with federal funds, to
determine if the subrecipient/organization has been debarred or excluded from doing
business with the federal government. A subrecipient/organization must have an active
SAM registration. Upon confirmation, sta� will screenshot the SAM.gov search for the
grant/subrecipient file. Additionally, subrecipients must meet all other special condition
requirements set by the American Rescue Plan Act State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds
program.

4. Subrecipient must submit a proposed budget plan.

5. Subrecipient must submit an outline of their organizational structure. The outline must
include the names of the positions and the names of the employees occupying those
positions.

6. Subrecipients must submit all their policies and procedures.

7. Subrecipients must complete a risk assessment and accompanying documentation.
Hidalgo County will assign a risk rating (Exhibit A).

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
(956) 292-7025   •   www.hidalgocountyarpa.com     4

158



Hidalgo County • Department of Budget & Management

American Rescue Plan Act 2022

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Post Award

1. Subrecipients must submit the approved budget with a listing of all expenditures to the
Hidalgo County American Rescue Plan Act Program for approval. All budgets and
expenditures must be approved by the Hidalgo County Auditor’s O�ce.

2. The County must evaluate the subrecipient’s goals for the subaward, performance
statement and the subrecipient’s grant budget.

3. Hidalgo County and the subrecipient agree to execute a Memorandum of Understanding
(MOU) between Hidalgo County and the subrecipient.

4. Hidalgo County personnel will monitor and approve financial and performance
statement reports and ability of the subrecipient to meet the performance statement of
the subaward based on assessed risk level.

5. Subrecipients must participate in annual monitoring site visits.

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
(956) 292-7025   •   www.hidalgocountyarpa.com     5

159



Hidalgo County • Department of Budget & Management

American Rescue Plan Act 2022

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Award Stage Risk Assessment

1. Hidalgo County will review and assess the subrecipient’s single audit report (CAFR).

2. The County will review past and current performance as reported through the quarterly
review process: both financial and performance statements.

3. By the 15th of each month, subrecipients shall electronically submit a funding report of
all expenditures. Reports are due even if the subrecipient has no new activity to report
during the month. If the 15th falls on a holiday or weekend, subrecipients must submit
on the upcoming business day. Subrecipients may submit before the 15th in anticipation
of a holiday or weekend.

4. The County will ensure the applicable special conditions of the grant award are
acknowledged by the subrecipient in a document that formally recognizes the
agreement to comply with any and all federal, state and program grant award special
conditions.

5. The County will provide the subrecipient requirements of subaward documentation to be
submitted by subrecipient to the Prime Grantee during the grant periods. (See Exhibit B)

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
(956) 292-7025   •   www.hidalgocountyarpa.com     6

160



Hidalgo County • Department of Budget & Management

American Rescue Plan Act 2022

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Continuous Analysis

The Hidalgo County American Rescue Plan Act Program will continuously analyze the
administrative and programmatic performance of subrecipients through the following
methods:

● Internal Controls (2 CFR 200.303): Hidalgo County will ensure the subrecipient provides
reasonable assurance of subrecipient compliance with federal statutes, regulations and
the terms and conditions of the federal award:

○ Subrecipients must return signed acknowledgement of the terms and conditions
of the subaward.

○ Subrecipients must agree to evaluation and monitoring of their compliance with
statutes, regulations and terms and conditions of the subaward by allowing
access to financial statements and program operations.

○ Subrecipients must take prompt action when instances of noncompliance are
identified.

○ Subrecipients must take reasonable measures to safeguard sensitive information
consistent with applicable federal, state and local laws.

● Regular communication with subrecipient stakeholders.

● Approving expenditures before they have been made.

● Invoice review:

○ Ensure invoices are timely, accurate and contain the appropriate backup
documentation to support the expense.

○ Remind all entities that the County is not subject to sales tax.

○ Confirm sales tax is not included in the invoice amount.

○ For any questionable expense(s), request additional backup from the
subrecipient specific to the charge(s) prior to payment.

● Request financial reports from the subrecipient that contain:

○ Subaward amount

○ Invoice(s) submitted for reimbursement by subaward budget category and
remaining subaward amount after expenses

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
(956) 292-7025   •   www.hidalgocountyarpa.com     7

161



Hidalgo County • Department of Budget & Management

American Rescue Plan Act 2022

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

○ Ensure cumulative expenses do not exceed the total approved subaward amount
and verify the rate of spending is consistent with the timeline of the project.

● Review any other financial or non-financial reports required by the subaward, such as
lists of supplies and equipment purchased with grant funds.

● Coordination of subrecipient budget revision requests.

● Documentation supporting subrecipient monitoring e�orts:

○ Email correspondence

○ Invoices

○ Deliverables, such as relevant data for quarterly progress report(s) and

○ Other supporting documentation.

● Request quarterly reports from the subrecipient for review and approval by Hidalgo
County.

● Follow up with the subrecipient regarding findings during annual subrecipient site visits
and request subrecipient’s resolution of site visit findings.

● For high risk subawards, the following additional steps are and shall be mandatorily
required:

○ Request additional supporting detail for all financial invoices and expenses in
accordance with the subaward terms and conditions.

○ Document and retain communications regarding project performance.

○ Report any significant issues to the Hidalgo County American Rescue Plan Act
Program.

○ Further action could include:

■ Withholding payments

■ Additional site visits

■ Termination of the subaward

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
(956) 292-7025   •   www.hidalgocountyarpa.com     8

162



Hidalgo County • Department of Budget & Management

American Rescue Plan Act 2022

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Site Visit

Hidalgo County will conduct an on-site meeting at the subrecipient’s location to review the
subrecipient’s project performance and compliance. Topics covered will depend on project
scope and subrecipient risk assessment and may include project procurement, data systems,
activity and performance tracking, project reporting, inventory and software systems. Hidalgo
County will produce a report that summarizes the results and any corrective actions deemed
necessary. The report will be shared in a timely manner with the subrecipient.

Procedures for On-Site Monitoring of Administrative, Financial and Programmatic
Elements of the Subward

1. The Hidalgo County American Rescue Plan Act Program will contact the subrecipient via
email to coordinate a site visit on the subrecipient’s premises.

2. After the site visit date and time are established, the Hidalgo County American Rescue
Plan Act Program will send details of what the site visit will focus on, such as compliance
with federal statutes, regulations and the terms and conditions of the federal award. (see
Exhibit D for example of pre-site visit letter)

3. Hidalgo County American Rescue Plan Act Program sta� will begin the site visit with a
meeting that includes the subrecipient personnel participating in the site visit. The
meeting will describe the reason for the site visit, review items to be discussed and
supplies and equipment purchased with grant funds.

4. During the site visit, sta� will follow the Monitoring Checklist that satisfies the
administrative and financial elements of the subaward. (see Exhibit C)

5. Hidalgo County American Rescue Plan Act Program sta� will end the site visit with a
meeting that discusses the program and items purchased with grant funds. Any
non-compliance issues will be brought to the attention of the subrecipient.

6. After the site visit, the Hidalgo County American Rescue Plan Act Program will email an
explanation of the items reviewed and whether the subrecipient procedures satisfy the
compliance standards for applicable federal and/or state statutes, regulations, and
conditions of the federal award, and explanation of all findings related to subrecipient
compliance. (see Exhibit E for example of post-site visit letter)

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
(956) 292-7025   •   www.hidalgocountyarpa.com     9

163



Hidalgo County • Department of Budget & Management

American Rescue Plan Act 2022

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Procedures for Documentation and Corrective Action

1. After the site visit, Hidalgo County American Rescue Plan Act Program sta� will note
findings and request the subrecipient to provide the program with written
documentation evidencing proof of the resolution of any issue(s) on the Subrecipient
Site Visit Evaluation Report (see Exhibit G) and on the Post-Site Visit letter (see Exhibit
E). The report will be sent to the subrecipient within one week of the site visit and the
findings will be discussed during a meeting.

2. Subrecipients will have 30 days to respond in writing to the Hidalgo County American
Rescue Plan Act Program with an acceptable plan for the successful resolution of
issues/findings as a result of the site visit.

3. Hidalgo County American Rescue Plan Act Program will review the subrecipient
resolution to the site visit findings and approve if adequate. All findings and resolutions
will be documented.

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
(956) 292-7025   •   www.hidalgocountyarpa.com     10

164



Hidalgo County • Department of Budget & Management

American Rescue Plan Act 2022

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Subaward Closure

● The subrecipient will be notified via email by the prime grantee at six months and at
three months prior to the grant end date.

● On or before 120 days prior to the Grant End Date, the subrecipient will be notified in
writing and via email that they have 90 days after the Grant End Date to liquidate their
encumbrance(s). At 120 days prior to the Grant End Date, the subrecipient will be
requested to provide confirmation via email that the subrecipient will spend the entire
subaward and liquidate all encumbrance(s) within the 90-day period after the Grant End
Date.

● All final invoices must be submitted to Hidalgo County American Rescue Plan Act
Program along with a final financial report that shows subaward amount, all invoices
reimbursed by the grant, and the amount remaining in subaward.

● Final Reports –Subrecipients shall electronically submit, no later than 45 calendar days
after the end of the Contract Term/Grant End Date, a final report of all expenditures of
funds. Failure to provide a full accounting of funds expended under the Contract may
result in the termination of the Contract and ineligibility to receive additional funds.

a. If a subrecipient fails to submit a final expenditure/performance report within 45
calendar days of the end of the Contract Term. The Hidalgo County American
Rescue Plan Act Program will use the last report submitted by the subrecipient as
the final report.

● If a subrecipient fails to submit, within 45 calendar days of its due date, any report or
response required by this Contract, including responses to monitoring reports, the
Hidalgo County American Rescue Plan Act Program may, in its sole discretion,
deobligate, withhold or suspend any or all payments otherwise due or requested by
subrecipient hereunder, and/or initiate proceedings to terminate the Contract.

● The following documents are typically required from the subrecipient for close out by
the date specified by the prime grantee:

a. Final invoice(s)

b. Final financial report

c. Final expenditure report

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
(956) 292-7025   •   www.hidalgocountyarpa.com     11

165



Hidalgo County • Department of Budget & Management

American Rescue Plan Act 2022

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

● Hidalgo County will perform a final desk audit of final invoices, final financial reports,
and final programmatic responses and, if necessary, may request additional supporting
documentation.

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
(956) 292-7025   •   www.hidalgocountyarpa.com     12

166



Hidalgo County • Department of Budget & Management

American Rescue Plan Act 2022

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Exhibit A

Subrecipient Risk Assessment: {Subrecipient, Unique Entity Identifier}

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
(956) 292-7025   •   www.hidalgocountyarpa.com     13

167



Hidalgo County • Department of Budget & Management

American Rescue Plan Act 2022

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Exhibit B
Requirements of Subaward Documentation Checklist

● Copy of signed Memorandum of Understanding

● Signed acknowledgement of receipt of grant award special conditions and agreement to
comply with grant award special conditions (see Exhibit F)

● Subrecipient will submit requests for payment for goods and services for approved
budgeted expenses on a reimbursement basis only. Invoices for reimbursement must be
accompanied by su�cient and accurate backup documentation that supports the
expense. Expenses incurred prior to the grant begin date or after the grant end date will
not be reimbursed.

● List of expenditures purchased with grant funds. List should show description of
supply/equipment, serial number, if any, vendor name, date of purchase, amount of
item, location where the items are kept, funding source, disposal date and value at
disposal date.

● Subrecipient financial report that contains:

○ Award amount

○ Invoices paid by subaward budget category

○ Remaining amount of subaward after invoices paid

○ Funds remaining unused after the end of the grant award will be returned to the
prime grantee.

● Response by subrecipient (e-mail is acceptable) for information requested for the
quarterly reports.

● Response by subrecipient (e-mail is acceptable) of agreement to cooperate during
annual site visit for review of Subrecipient Monitoring Policy, Goals and Procedures and
ensure compliance of federal statutes, regulations and terms/conditions of award. The
response must also confirm agreement to on-site reviews of the subrecipient’s program
operations and allow access to the subrecipient's financial records.

● Budget modification requests, as needed, should be submitted by the subrecipient, along
with explanation of why a budget modification is needed and how the budget
modification supports the goals and objectives of the program/project.

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
(956) 292-7025   •   www.hidalgocountyarpa.com     14

168



Hidalgo County • Department of Budget & Management

American Rescue Plan Act 2022

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

● Change in Scope requests, as needed, should be submitted by the subrecipient, along
with explanation of why a change in scope is needed and how the change in scope
supports the goals and objectives of the program/project.

● Resolution of findings within 30 days, if any, after annual site visit.

● For grant closeout, subrecipients must submit the following within the time frame
defined by the prime grantee:

○ Final invoice(s)

○ Final Financial Report

○ Final Supplies and Equipment report

● Present County O�cials and Employees – Conflict of Interest

○ Subrecipient shall maintain written standards of conduct governing the
performance of its employees engaged in the award and administration of
contracts.

○ No employee, o�cer, or agent of subrecipient shall participate in the selection,
award or administration of a contract supported by federal funds if a real or
apparent conflict of interest would be involved. Such a conflict would arise when
the employee, o�cer or agent, any member of his or her immediate family, his
or her partner or an organization that employs or is about to employ any of the
Parties indicated herein, has a financial or other interest in the firm selected for
an award.

○ The o�cers, employees and agents of the subrecipient shall neither solicit nor
accept gratuities, favors or anything of monetary value from contractors, or
parties to sub agreements. Subrecipients shall be required to follow existing
Hidalgo County American Rescue Plan Act Program procedures, requirements
and standards for any situations in which the financial interest is not substantial
or the gift is an unsolicited item of nominal value. The standards of conduct shall
provide for disciplinary actions to be applied for violations of such standards by
o�cers, employees or agents of the subrecipient.

○ Subrecipient shall, in addition to the requirements of Section 25, follow the
requirements of Chapter 171 of the Local Government Code regarding conflicts of
interest of o�cers of municipalities, counties and certain other local
governments.

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
(956) 292-7025   •   www.hidalgocountyarpa.com     15

169



Hidalgo County • Department of Budget & Management

American Rescue Plan Act 2022

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

○ Failure to maintain written standards of conduct and to follow and enforce the
written standards is a condition of default under this Contract and may result in
termination of the Contract or deobligation of funds.

● Political Activity Prohibited

○ None of the funds provided under the Contract shall be used for any type or form
of the following: monetary and/or non-monetary funding, campaign
contributions, political and/or campaign online and/or any other media format,
or in person advertising, campaigning, supporting, lobbying, participating
and/or influencing the outcome of any election, or the passage or defeat of any
vote, ballot, constitutional and/or legislative measure(s). This prohibition shall
not be construed to prevent any state o�cial or employee from furnishing to any
member of its governing body upon request, or to any other local or state o�cial
or employee, or to any citizen, information in the hands of the employee or
o�cial not considered under law to be confidential information.

○ No funds provided under the Contract may be used directly or indirectly to hire
employees, or fund in any other way, or support candidates for the legislative,
executive, or judicial branches of government, the State of Texas, or the
government of the United States.

○ None of the funds provided under this Contract shall be used to pay any person or
organization for influencing or attempting to influence an o�cer or employee of
any agency, a member of Congress, o�cer or employee of Congress or an
employee of a member of Congress in connection with obtaining any Federal
contract, grant or any other award governed by the Byrd Anti-Lobbying
Amendment (31 U.S.C. §1352) as the Development Owner and each of its tiers
have certified by their execution of the “Certification Regarding Lobbying for
Contracts, Grants, Loans, and Cooperative Agreements”

By signing below, I agree to provide all documents listed above and additional documentation if
needed, to Hidalgo County via the Hidalgo County American Rescue Plan Act Program by the
date requested.

______________________________  ________________
Hidalgo County American Rescue Plan Act Program Date

______________________________  ________________
Grantee Date

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
(956) 292-7025   •   www.hidalgocountyarpa.com     16

170



Hidalgo County • Department of Budget & Management

American Rescue Plan Act 2022

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Exhibit C

Site Visit Monitoring Checklist

Pre-site visit notice sent subrecipient (See Exhibit D)

Hidalgo County has received the following documentation:

Signed Memorandum of Understanding (MOU)

Signed acknowledgement of grant special conditions

Signed ‘Requirements of subaward documents to be submitted by subrecipient.

A copy of the subrecipient’s budget plan on file

Hidalgo County has received a list of invoices paid under each federal grant and
corresponding list of equipment/supplies to be reviewed during the annual site visit
provided to subrecipient

Are invoices from subrecipient delayed, inconsistent, failure to provide backup,
improperly documented

Do the subrecipient’s invoices support the goals and objectives of the grant

Does the subrecipient submit information required for quarterly reports

Is the subrecipient’s rate of spending appropriate for their progress

Has the subrecipient provided an inventory list of supplies and equipment purchased
with grant funds

Is performance progressing in an expected manner to support the goals and objectives of
the grant

Are there severe programmatic or administrative issues by the subrecipient, which may
cause the subaward to be terminated

Does the subrecipient respond timely to requests for financial and budget/scope revision
information

Was the Site Visit Evaluation report submitted to the subrecipient complete with
findings and request for resolution to issues

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
(956) 292-7025   •   www.hidalgocountyarpa.com     17

171



Hidalgo County • Department of Budget & Management

American Rescue Plan Act 2022

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Post site-visit letter sent to subrecipient (see Exhibit E)

Subrecipient resolution of site visit findings and issues received by prime grantee

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
(956) 292-7025   •   www.hidalgocountyarpa.com     18

172



Hidalgo County • Department of Budget & Management

American Rescue Plan Act 2022

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Exhibit D

Pre-Site Visit Letter Template

Subject: Hidalgo County American Rescue Plan Act Program Site Visit, {ARPA Project #}

Dear { },

On {DATE OF VISIT}, the American Rescue Plan Act Program will be visiting your site facilities
at {LOCATION} for the purpose of reviewing financial, administrative and compliance aspects of
your subaward, and also viewing items purchased with grant funds awarded to your agency
through the Hidalgo County as funded by the American Rescue Plan Act.

The site visit is part of the monitoring policy that the County has implemented to ensure
compliance with U.S. Department of the Treasury guidance. The focus of the visit is to assess
deliverables listed on the attached document (list of invoices and equipment/supplies
purchased) and review the financial process of paying grant-related invoices. The visit should
be helpful to the grant program performance, and program sta� will also respond to any
questions or concerns during the visit.

Please ensure that key sta� is available for the site visit. I am hopeful that our meeting will be
mutually beneficial. We will meet you at your o�ce at XX:XX a.m.

Sincerely,

{ARPA Program Manager}

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
(956) 292-7025   •   www.hidalgocountyarpa.com     19

173



Hidalgo County • Department of Budget & Management

American Rescue Plan Act 2022

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Exhibit E

Post-Site Visit Letter Template

Subject: Hidalgo County American Rescue Plan Act Program Site Visit, {ARPA Project #}

Dear { },

Thank you for the support and cooperation during our site visit on {DATE OF VISIT}. During the
evaluation, Hidalgo County American Rescue Plan Act Program sta� examined your financial,
administrative, internal control procedures and visually inspected the items purchased with
federal funds awarded to your agency through Hidalgo County as funded by the American
Rescue Plan Act. The federal funding on this site visit involved the following grant(s):

● {ARPA Project #}

The site visit is part of the monitoring policy that Hidalgo County has incorporated into its
American Rescue Plan Act Program, which provides for at least one visit per year per grant. As
discussed during the exit conference, there were no findings or recommendations that need
correction.

{OR, describe here the recommendations/findings that need to be addressed. IF, A corrective
action plan will be required, specify the due date for the plan.}

Again, thank you for your cooperation. I look forward to working with you on future grant
opportunities.

Sincerely,

{ARPA Program Manager}

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
(956) 292-7025   •   www.hidalgocountyarpa.com     20

174



Hidalgo County • Department of Budget & Management

American Rescue Plan Act 2022

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Exhibit F

Hidalgo County American Rescue Plan Act Subrecipient Monitoring Policy and
Procedures Acknowledgement

By signing this document, I acknowledge that I have received a copy of the Hidalgo County
Subrecipient Monitoring Policy, Goals and Procedures. I recognize it contains important
information on the Hidalgo County grant policies, procedures, rules and regulations. It is my
responsibility to familiarize myself with the material in the handbook.

I understand that no statement contained in this handbook creates any guarantee of continued
funding or creates any obligation, contractual or otherwise, on the part of the program.

I understand compliance with the policies and procedures is a condition for the program to
continue to be eligible for grant awards from the American Rescue Plan Act and that any
violations of the policies and procedures may result in corrective action, including the
termination of any grant funds up to the obligation of returning funds to grantor.

{Grant Year}, {Grant Name}, {ARPA Project Number}

________________ ____________

ARPA Program Manager Date

________________ ____________

Subrecipient Date

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
(956) 292-7025   •   www.hidalgocountyarpa.com     21

175



Hidalgo County • Department of Budget & Management

American Rescue Plan Act 2022

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Exhibit G

Subrecipient Site Visit Evaluation Report

Date of Site Visit:

Site Visit Evaluation Report Prepared by:

Subrecipient:

Attendees:

Pre-Meeting Notes
List any issues, concerns, or other specialty items for follow-up during review.

1.
2.

Summary of Progress
Subrecipient must submit a written summary of the major work plan milestones during the
review period at least one week prior to the review. The summary must address 1) number of
clients served as compared with projections; 2) sta�ng; 3) activities undertaken; and 4)
significant accomplishments. A copy of that summary will be appended to this written review
report.

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
(956) 292-7025   •   www.hidalgocountyarpa.com     22

176



Subrecipient Monitoring Overview Form
ARPA Specialist
Type of Review
Date

Subrecipient Information
Entity Name
Program Personnel
Phone Number
Fiscal/Audit Personnel
Phone Number

# General Compliance Comments

1 Program 
Implementation

Indicate milestones met and identify milestones needed 
to be completed.

2 Activities / Products Identify reports that were submitted, and those still 
needed for submission.

3 Corrective Actions Indicate recommendations due to review process.

4 Quality of 
Implementation

Are activities on schedule and impacting the intended 
goals?

5 Issues / Problems Identify concerns:  milestones, staffing, reporting, etc.

177



Subrecipient Monitoring Form
ARPA Specialist
Type of Review
Date

Subrecipient Information
Entity Name
Program Personnel
Phone Number
Fiscal/Audit Personnel
Phone Number

General Compliance
Response - 
Select from 
Dropdown

Comments

1 Has there been a change in the activity goals, scope of service, number of people to be 
served or other special terms as indicated in the  Interlocal Agreement?

2 Is the subrecipient providing the full scope of services as stated in the Interlocal 
Agreement?

3 Are the activities achieving the expected quantifiable levels of performance (number 
of persons served, achieving goals set, etc.) reaching the intended client group?

4 Is the activity conducted in a timely manner?

5 Did the activity operate within the approved budget?

General Comments

Personnel
Response - 
Select from 
Dropdown

Comments

6 Does the recipient have a reimbursement policy?

7 Were detailed receipts provided to support the amounts requested?

8 If reimbursed for training or conference expenses, was a certificate of attendance or 
completion, or agenda and brochure provided to support request for reimbursement?

9 Is travel approved in advance by a supervisor or project manager?

10 Are travel expenditures documented with expense reports and/or detailed receipts? (Receipts must show detail of what was purchased and not just total)

11 Are mileage logs supported by mileage logs or similar documentation?

12 Are personnel files maintained for each employee that include current job 
descriptions, performance evaluations, and changes in pay?

13
Do timesheets, activity reports or payroll files clearly demonstrate the effort toward the subaward charged?

14
Are all staff positions and fringe benefits consistent with the approved budget? 

General Comments

Equipments and Supplies
Response - 
Select from 
Dropdown

Comments

15 Is an equipment purchasing procedure in place?

16 Is equipment inventoried, insured and managed?

17 Is there a disposition of equipment policy?

18 Are supply purchases approved and well-documented with quotes, invoices, or 
receipts?

19 Were all transactions conducted in a manner providing full and open competition 
from an adequate number of sources?

20 Is there a substantial amount of inventory at project termination?

General Comments

Financial Management
Response - 
Select from 
Dropdown

Comments

21 Is there a separate accounting for all financial transactions for the subaward?

22 Are accounting records supported by source documentation?

23 Is proper fiscal retention being followed (through December 31, 2031)?

24 Were applicable State and Federal suspension and debarment listings consulted prior 
to doing business with a vendor or contractor?

25 Were invoices reviews for eligibility prior to payment?

26 Are disbursements fully supported by invoices, requisitions, purchase orders or 
similar documentation?

27 Are routine reconciliations conducted?

28 Are sufficient internal controls in place to promptly correct or resolve issues?

General Comments

Other Direct Costs
Response - 
Select from 
Dropdown

Comments

29
Are rent payments documented by a copy of the lease agreement, and canceled 
checks or receipts?

30 Are receipts, bills, and invoices properly maintained as per the approved budget?
31 Are costs being shared with other programs or funding sources?

General Comments

Recommendations/Monitor Interventions

Financial

Programmatic

Other

178



Hidalgo County • Department of Budget & Management

American Rescue Plan Act 2022

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Exhibit H

State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds Expenditure Categories

1: Public Health
1.1 COVID-19 Vaccination ^
1.2 COVID-19 Testing ^
1.3 COVID-19 Contact Tracing
1.4 Prevention in Congregate Settings (Nursing Homes, Prisons/Jails, Dense Work Sites, Schools,

etc.)*
1.5 Personal Protective Equipment

1.6 Medical Expenses (including Alternative Care Facilities)
1.7 Other COVID-19 Public Health Expenses (including Communications, Enforcement,
Isolation/Quarantine)^
1.8 COVID-19 Assistance to Small Businesses^
1.9 COVID 19 Assistance to Nonprofits^
1.10 COVID-19 Aid to Impacted Industries^
1.11 Community Violence Interventions*^
1.12 Mental Health Services*^
1.13 Substance Use Services*^
1.14 Other Public Health Services^
2: Negative Economic Impacts
2.1 Household Assistance: Food Programs* ^
2.2 Household Assistance: Rent, Mortgage, and Utility Aid* ^
2.3 Household Assistance: Cash Transfers* ^
2.4 Household Assistance: Internet Access Programs*^
2.5 Household Assistance: Paid Sick and Medical Leave^
2.6 Household Assistance: Health Insurance*^
2.7 Household Assistance: Services for Un/Unbanked*^
2.8 Household Assistance: Survivor's Benefits^
2.9 Unemployment Benefits or Cash Assistance to Unemployed Workers*^
2.10 Assistance to Unemployed or Underemployed Workers (e.g. job training, subsidized
employment, employment supports or incentives)*^
2.11 Healthy Childhood Environments: Child Care*^
2.12 Healthy Childhood Environments: Home Visiting*^
2.13 Healthy Childhood Environments: Services to Foster Youth or Families Involved in Child
Welfare System*^
2.14 Healthy Childhood Environments: Early Learning*^
2.15 Long-term Housing Security: A�ordable Housing*^
2.16 Long-term Housing Security: Services for Unhoused Persons*^

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
(956) 292-7025   •   www.hidalgocountyarpa.com     25

179

avery.arizola
Underline



Hidalgo County • Department of Budget & Management

American Rescue Plan Act 2022

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

2.17 Housing Support: Housing Vouchers and Relocation Assistance for Disproportionately
Impacted Communities*^
2.18 Housing Support: Other Housing Assistance*^
2.19 Social Determinants of Health: Community Health Workers or Benefits Navigators*^
2.20 Social Determinants of Health: Lead Remediation*^
2.21 Medical Facilities for Disproportionately Impacted Communities^
2.22 Strong Healthy Communities: Neighborhood Features that Promote Health and Safety^
2.23 Strong Healthy Communities: Demolition and Rehabilitation of Properties^
2.24 Addressing Educational Disparities: Aid to High-Poverty Districts^
2.25 Addressing Educational Disparities: Academic, Social, and Emotional Services*^
2.26 Addressing Educational Disparities: Mental Health Services*^
2.27 Addressing Impacts of Lost Instructional Time^
2.28 Contributions to UI Trust Funds^
2.29 Loans or Grants to Mitigate Financial Hardship^
2.30 Technical Assistance, Counseling or Business Planning*^
2.31 Rehabilitation of Commercial Properties or Other Improvements^
2.32 Business Incubators and Start-Up or Expansion Assistance*^
2.33 Enhanced Support to Microbusinesses*^
2.34 Assistance to Impacted Nonprofit Organizations (Impacted or Disproportionately Impacted)^
2.35 Aid to Tourism, Travel, or Hospitality^
2.36 Aid to Other Impacted Industries^
2.37 Economic Impact Assistance: Other*^
3: Public Health-Negative Economic Impact: Public Sector Capacity
3.1 Public Sector Workforce: Payroll and Benefits for Public Health, Public Safety, or Human
Services Workers
3.2 Public Sector Workforce: Rehiring Public Sector Sta�
3.3 Public Sector Workforce: Other
3.4 Public Sector Capacity: E�ective Service Delivery
3.5 Public Sector Capacity: Administrative Needs
4: Premium Pay
4.1 Public Sector Employees
4.2 Private Sector: Grants to Other Employers
5: Infrastructure
5.1 Clean Water: Centralized Wastewater Treatment
5.2 Clean Water: Centralized Wastewater Collection and Conveyance
5.3 Clean Water: Decentralized Wastewater
5.4 Clean Water: Combined Sewer Overflows
5.5 Clean Water: Other Sewer Infrastructure
5.6 Clean Water: Stormwater
5.7 Clean Water: Energy Conservation

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
(956) 292-7025   •   www.hidalgocountyarpa.com     26

180



Hidalgo County • Department of Budget & Management

American Rescue Plan Act 2022

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

5.8 Clean Water: Water Conservation
5.9 Clean Water: Nonpoint Source
5.10 Drinking water: Treatment
5.11 Drinking water: Transmission & Distribution
5.12 Drinking water: Lead Remediation, including in Schools and Daycares
5.13 Drinking water: Source
5.14 Drinking water: Storage
5.15 Drinking water: Other water infrastructure
5.16 Water and Sewer: Private Wells
5.17 Water and Sewer: IIJA Bureau of Reclamation Match
5.18 Water and Sewer: Other
5.19 Broadband: “Last Mile” projects
5.20 Broadband: IIJA Match
5.21 Broadband: Other projects

*Denotes areas where recipients must identify the amount of the total funds that are allocated
to evidence-based interventions

^Denotes areas where recipients must report on whether projects are primarily serving
disadvantaged communities

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
(956) 292-7025   •   www.hidalgocountyarpa.com     27

181



Hidalgo County • Department of Budget & Management

American Rescue Plan Act 2022

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Exhibit I

Evidenced-Based Intervention Additional Information

What is evidence-based?

For the purposes of the SLFRF, evidence-based refers to interventions with strong or moderat e 
evidence as defined below:

Strong evidence means the evidence base that can support causal conclusions for the specifi c 
program proposed by the applicant with the highest level of confidence. This consists of one o r 
more well-designed and well-implemented experimental studies conducted on the propose d 
program with positive findings on one or more intended outcomes.

Moderate evidence means that there is a reasonably developed evidence base that can suppor t 
causal conclusions. The evidence base consists of one or more quasi-experimental studies wit h 
positive findings on one or more intended outcomes OR two or more nonexperimental studie  s 
with positive findings on one or more intended outcomes. Examples of research that meet th e 
standards include: well-designed and well-implemented quasi-experimental studies tha t 
compare outcomes between the group receiving the intervention and a matched compariso n 
group (i.e., a similar population that does not receive the intervention).

Preliminary evidence means that the evidence base can support conclusions about th e 
program’s contribution to observed outcomes. The evidence base consists of at least one
non-experimental study. A study that demonstrates improvement in program beneficiarie s 
over time on one or more intended outcomes OR an implementation (process evaluation) stud y 
used to learn and improve program operations would constitute preliminary evidence . 
Examples of research that meet the standards include: (1) outcome studies that track progra m 
beneficiaries through a service pipeline and measure beneficiaries’ responses at the end of th e 
program; and (2) pre- and post-test research that determines whether beneficiaries hav e 
improved on an intended outcome.

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
(956) 292-7025   •   www.hidalgocountyarpa.com     28

182



Hidalgo County • Department of Budget & Management

American Rescue Plan Act 2022

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Exhibit J

Code of Federal Regulations §200.332: Requirements for Pass-Through Entities

● Ensure that every subaward is clearly identified to the subrecipient as a subaward and
includes the following information at the time of the subaward and if any of these data
elements change, include the changes in subsequent subaward modification. When some
of this information is not available, the pass-through entity must provide the best
information available to describe the Federal award and subaward. Required information
includes:

○ Federal award identification

■ Subrecipient name (which must match the name associated with its
unique entity identifier);

■ Subrecipient's unique entity identifier;

■ Federal Award Identification Number (FAIN);

■ Federal Award Date (see the definition of Federal award date in § 200.1 of
this part) of award to the recipient by the Federal agency;

■ Subaward Period of Performance Start and End Date;

■ Subaward Budget Period Start and End Date;

■ Amount of Federal Funds Obligated by this action by the pass-through
entity to the subrecipient;

■ Total Amount of Federal Funds Obligated to the subrecipient by the
pass-through entity including the current financial obligation;

■ Total Amount of the Federal Award committed to the subrecipient by the
pass-through entity;

■ Federal award project description, as required to be responsive to the
Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act (FFATA);

■ Name of Federal awarding agency, pass-through entity, and contact
information for awarding o�cial of the Pass-through entity;

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
(956) 292-7025   •   www.hidalgocountyarpa.com     29

183



Hidalgo County • Department of Budget & Management

American Rescue Plan Act 2022

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

■ Assistance Listings number and Title; the pass-through entity must
identify the dollar amount made available under each Federal award and
the Assistance Listings Number at time of disbursement;

■ Identification of whether the award is R&D; and

■ Indirect cost rate for the Federal award (including if the de minimis rate
is charged) per § 200.414.

● All requirements imposed by the pass-through entity on the subrecipient so that the
Federal award is used in accordance with Federal statutes, regulations and the terms and
conditions of the Federal award;

● Any additional requirements that the pass-through entity imposes on the subrecipient
in order for the pass-through entity to meet its own responsibility to the Federal
awarding agency including identification of any required financial and performance
reports;

● An approved federally recognized indirect cost rate negotiated between the subrecipient
and the Federal Government. If no approved rate exists, the pass-through entity must
determine the appropriate rate in collaboration with the subrecipient, which is either:

○ The negotiated indirect cost rate between the pass-through entity and the
subrecipient, which can be based on a prior negotiated rate between a di�erent
PTE and the same subrecipient. If basing the rate on a previously negotiated rate,
the pass-through entity is not required to collect information justifying this rate,
but may elect to do so;

○ The de minimis indirect cost rate.

● The pass-through entity must not require use of a de minimis indirect cost rate if the
subrecipient has a Federally approved rate. Subrecipients can elect to use the cost
allocation method to account for indirect costs in accordance with § 200.405(d).

● A requirement that the subrecipient permit the pass-through entity and auditors to have
access to the subrecipient's records and financial statements as necessary for the
pass-through entity to meet the requirements of this part; and

● Appropriate terms and conditions concerning closeout of the subaward.

● Evaluate each subrecipient's risk of noncompliance with Federal statutes, regulations,
and the terms and conditions of the subaward for purposes of determining the

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
(956) 292-7025   •   www.hidalgocountyarpa.com     30

184



Hidalgo County • Department of Budget & Management

American Rescue Plan Act 2022

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

appropriate subrecipient monitoring described in paragraphs (d) and (e) of this section,
which may include consideration of such factors as:

○ The subrecipient's prior experience with the same or similar subawards;

○ The results of previous audits including whether or not the subrecipient receives
a Single Audit in accordance with Subpart F of this part, and the extent to which
the same or similar subaward has been audited as a major program;

○ Whether the subrecipient has new personnel or new or substantially changed
systems; and

○ The extent and results of Federal awarding agency monitoring (e.g., if the
subrecipient also receives Federal awards directly from a Federal awarding
agency).

● Consider imposing specific subaward conditions upon a subrecipient if appropriate as
described in § 200.208.

● Monitor the activities of the subrecipient as necessary to ensure that the subaward is
used for authorized purposes, in compliance with Federal statutes, regulations, and the
terms and conditions of the subaward; and that subaward performance goals are
achieved. Pass-through entity monitoring of the subrecipient must include:

○ Reviewing financial and performance reports required by the pass-through
entity.

○ Following-up and ensuring that the subrecipient takes timely and appropriate
action on all deficiencies pertaining to the Federal award provided to the
subrecipient from the pass-through entity detected through audits, on-site
reviews, and written confirmation from the subrecipient, highlighting the status
of actions planned or taken to address Single Audit findings related to the
particular subaward.

○ Issuing a management decision for applicable audit findings pertaining only to
the Federal award provided to the subrecipient from the pass-through entity as
required by § 200.521.

● The pass-through entity is responsible for resolving audit findings specifically related to
the subaward and not responsible for resolving crosscutting findings. If a subrecipient
has a current Single Audit report posted in the Federal Audit Clearinghouse and has not
otherwise been excluded from receipt of Federal funding (e.g., has been debarred or
suspended), the pass-through entity may rely on the subrecipient's cognizant audit

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
(956) 292-7025   •   www.hidalgocountyarpa.com     31

185



Hidalgo County • Department of Budget & Management

American Rescue Plan Act 2022

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

agency or cognizant oversight agency to perform audit follow-up and make
management decisions related to cross-cutting findings in accordance with section §
200.513(a)(3)(vii). Such reliance does not eliminate the responsibility of the
pass-through entity to issue subawards that conform to agency and award-specific
requirements, to manage risk through ongoing subaward monitoring, and to monitor
the status of the findings that are specifically related to the subaward.

● Depending upon the pass-through entity's assessment of risk posed by the subrecipient,
the following monitoring tools may be useful for the pass-through entity to ensure
proper accountability and compliance with program requirements and achievement of
performance goals:

○ Providing subrecipients with training and technical assistance on
program-related matters; and

○ Performing on-site reviews of the subrecipient's program operations;

○ Arranging for agreed-upon-procedures engagements as described in § 200.425.

● Verify that every subrecipient is audited as required by Subpart F of this part when it is
expected that the subrecipient's Federal awards expended during the respective fiscal
year equaled or exceeded the threshold set forth in § 200.501.

● Consider whether the results of the subrecipient's audits, on-site reviews, or other
monitoring indicate conditions that necessitate adjustments to the pass-through
entity's own records.

● Consider taking enforcement action against noncompliant subrecipients as described in
§ 200.339 of this part and in program regulations.

[85 FR 49543, Aug. 13, 2020, as amended at 86 FR 10440, Feb. 22, 2021]

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
(956) 292-7025   •   www.hidalgocountyarpa.com     32

186



Hidalgo County • Department of Budget & Management

American Rescue Plan Act 2022

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Exhibit F

Hidalgo County American Rescue Plan Act Subrecipient Monitoring Policy and 
Procedures Acknowledgement

By signing this document, I acknowledge that I have received a copy of the Hidalgo County 
Subrecipient Monitoring Policy, Goals and Procedures. I recognize it contains important 
information on the Hidalgo County grant policies, procedures, rules and regulations. It is my 
responsibility to familiarize myself with the material in the handbook.

I understand that no statement contained in this handbook creates any guarantee of continued 
funding or creates any obligation, contractual or otherwise, on the part of the program.

I understand compliance with the policies and procedures is a condition for the program to 
continue to be eligible for grant awards from the American Rescue Plan Act and that any 
violations of the policies and procedures may result in corrective action, including the 
termination of any grant funds up to the obligation of returning funds to grantor.

Grant Year: Grant Name:
ARPA Project Number:

________________ ____________

ARPA Program Manager Date

________________ ____________

Subrecipient Date

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
(956) 292-7025   •   www.hidalgocountyarpa.com     21

187



Form REQ ARPA Please email questions about this form  to ARPA@auditor.co.hidalgo.tx.us Page 1 of 

HIDALGO COUNTY AUDITOR'S OFFICE 

American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA)

Reimbursement/Payment Request Form

All parts of this form must be completed.  Incomplete forms will be returned.  The information must be legible.  Please refer to the 
instructions page for proper completion of this form.

SE
C

TI
O

N
 1

 ENTITY CONTACT INFORMATION

1. Entity Name: 2. Contact Name: 3. Contact Title:

4. Mailing Address: (Street, city, state and ZIP code) 5. Contact Phone:

ext.

SE
C

TI
O

N
 2

TYPE OF REQUEST

6. Payment Type:

  If this is a one time payment request, check box and enter request amount then proceed to Section5.  $ 

  If this is a periodic reimbursement request, check box then proceed to Section 3.

SE
C

TI
O

N
 3

ARPA EXPENDITURE INFORMATION

7. Report Period:
Begin Date End Date 8. Payment Request

No.:
-

To Be Completed By Entity Budget Office Use Only
9. Invoice No. 10. Check Date 11. Check No. 12. Check Amt. 14. Project Name 15. Approved Amt. 16. Expense Category

13. TOTAL 17. TOTAL

188



Form REQ ARPA Please email questions about this form  to ARPA@auditor.co.hidalgo.tx.us Page 2 of 

SE
C

TI
O

N
 4

DOCUMENTATION CHECK LIST

Purchasing Policy (should only be provided once)  Quotes Copies of cancelled checks

Sam.gov verification for each vendor Bids Invoices

Purchase Order for each invoice Contracts

SE
C

TI
O

N
 5

ASSURANCES

18. This request is for necessary expenditures incurred due to the public health
emergency with respect to COVID-19?   Yes   No  

19. Were the expenditures reported above incurred (paid) on or after March 3, 2021?
  Yes   No  

20. Has the request/expenditures reported above been reimbursed by insurance, legal
settlement, or any other emergency COVID-19 supplemental funding (whether federal,
state, or private in nature)?

  Yes   No  

SE
C

TI
O

N
 6

CERTIFICATION

The undersigned hereby certifies under penalties of perjury that this request for reimbursement from the Coronavirus Local Fiscal 
Recovery Fund is true, complete, and accurate and the expenditures reported are in compliance with all conditions of section 603 
of the Social Security Act, as added by section 9901 of the American Rescue Plan Act  ("ARPA").  I am aware that any false, 
fictitious, or fraudulent information may subject me to criminal, civil, or administrative penalties.

21. Name: 22. Title:

23. Signature: 24. Date:

SE
C

TI
O

N
 7

SUBMISSION INFORMATION FOR COUNTY USE ONLY

Submit completed form and supporting documentation 
via:

Budget Office Auditor's Office

25. Reviewed by: (signature) 28. Reviewed by: (signature)

email:  ARPA@auditor.co.hidalgo.tx.us

mail: Hidalgo County Auditor's Office 26. Name: 29. Name:

Hidalgo County Administration Building

2808 South Business Highway 281 27. Date: 30. Date:

Edinburg, Texas 78539-6243

189

mailto:ARPA@auditor.co.hidalgo.tx.us


 2023 PARAMEDIC COST BREAKDOWN

ITEM COST Per Student
TEEX (12 Students up to 20 Cost wll not Change) $17,350.00 $1,445.83

INSTRUCTOR (S) $35,000.00 $2,916.67

BOOKS (12 Students/$950.00 per student) $11,400.00 $950.00

PARAMEDIC ENTRANCE EXAMS $550.00 $27.50

NATIONAL REGISTRY SKILLS EXAM ($200 per student @ 12 Students) $2,400.00 $200.00

NATIONAL REGISTRY WRITTEN EXAM ($160 per student @ 12 Students) $1,920.00 $160.00

TOTAL COST $68,620.00 $5,700.00

HIDALGO COUNTY PORTION 50% $34,310.00 $2,859.17

MUNICIPAL PORTION 50% $34,310.00 $2,859.17

190



CONTRACT EXTENSION #2023/02/07A 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF MERCEDES, TEXAS, 

that the contract between the City of Mercedes, Texas and Juan R. Alvarez, Municipal Court 

Judge Services was evaluated and contract renewals may be extended in accordance with the 

Mercedes City Charter, and  

The City Commission hereby exercises the contract extension option for two years beginning

October 1, 2022 and ending September 30, 2024 and that the Mayor or Mayor Pro-Tem is hereby 

authorized to execute this contract extension and to do all other acts necessary to carry said 

extension into effect. 

PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED THIS THE 7TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2023. 

____________________________ 

Oscar D. Montoya Sr., Mayor 

ATTEST: 

_________________________________ 

Joselynn Castillo, City Secretary 

Item 11C

191



Contract Ext. 7/2021

192



193



CONTRACT EXTENSION #2023/02/07B 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF MERCEDES, TEXAS, 

that the contract between the City of Mercedes, Texas and TIF Services of South Texas was 

evaluated and contract renewals may be extended in accordance with the Mercedes City Charter, 

and  

The City Commission hereby exercises the contract extension option for two years beginning 

May 25, 2022 and ending May 24, 2024 and that the Mayor or Mayor Pro-Tem is hereby 

authorized to execute this contract extension and to do all other acts necessary to carry said 

extension into effect. 

PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED THIS THE 7TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2023. 

____________________________ 

Oscar D. Montoya Sr., Mayor 

ATTEST: 

_________________________________ 

Joselynn Castillo, City Secretary 

Item 11D

194



Contract renewed 5-24-21

195



196



197



198



199



AGENDA ITEM NO. 

CONSENT ITEM:  

DATE:  02/07/2023 

FROM: Chief Pedro Estrada 

ITEM: Chapter 59 Local Agreement 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION: This Local Agreement is for the Chapter 59. It’s a standard agreement 
the only thing that will change is to reflect that Chief Estrada is the new head of the department removing 
Chief Quintanilla as the head of the agency from the previous Local Agreement.     

BOARD REVIEW/CITIZEN FEEDBACK: 

ALTERNATIVES/OPTIONS:   

FISCAL IMPACT:  

Proposed Expenditure/(Revenue): Account Number(s): 

$ 

Finance Review by:   

LEGAL REVIEW: Martie Vela 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Local Agreement
2.
3.

DRAFT MOTION: 

11E

200



STATE OF TEXAS ) 

) LOCAL AGREEMENT 

COUNTY OF HIDALGO ) 

This LOCAL AGREEMENT is entered into, by and between the CITY OF MERCEDES POLICE 
DEPARTMENT, located in Hidalgo County, Texas, hereinafter called "LAW ENFORCEMENT 
AGENCY", and the Office of Criminal District Attorney of Hidalgo, Texas, hereinafter called "STATE'S 
ATTORNEY".  This agreement supersedes any and all other prior local agreements and will apply to all 
pending forfeiture cases filed on or after the date this agreement is signed. 

I. The Parties hereto desire to enter in an agreement to dispose of forfeited "contraband",
pursuant to Chapter 59 of the Texas Code of Criminal Procedures;

II. All property found to be "contraband" pursuant to Article 59.01, 59.02 of the Texas Code
of Criminal Procedure, with the State's Attorney representing the state as agent for the
state, shall be subject to this local agreement;

III. The Criminal District Attorney of Hidalgo County, Texas (State's Attorney) represents the
State of Texas regarding forfeiture of "contraband" seized pursuant to Chapter 59 of the
Texas Code of Criminal Procedure; and

IV. Article 59.06 of the Texas Code of Criminal Procedure mandates that a local agreement
be reached between the State's Attorney, acting as an agent of the state, and the Law
Enforcement Agency to effect the disposition of contraband forfeited to the state.

THEREFORE, this LOCAL AGREEMENT is hereby made and entered into by the LAW 
ENFORCEMENT AGENCY  and the STATE'S ATTORNEY for the mutual considerations stated herein, 
and the following is understood and agreed to by the parties; 

In consideration for services associated with forfeitures of contraband, the Law Enforcement Agency agrees 
to pay all court costs, attorney ad litem fees, depositions, title searches, title policies, confidential 
informants, storage costs, and all other related costs in the forfeiture of vehicles and all other personal 
property, as outlined below. This clause does not pertain to the forfeiture of real estate, currency, banking 
accounts and negotiable instruments which is detailed more fully below as to the disposition of costs and 
which agency will pay same.  

1. PERSONAL PROPERY, including, but not limited to vehicles, laptops, computers, cell
phones, weapons, etc., and all other personal property to be forfeited to the Law
Enforcement Agency and the State's Attorney pursuant to this Agreement, then the
forfeited property shall be divided as follows:

• If personal property, including vehicles retained by the Law Enforcement Agency are to
be sold, net proceeds from the sale of said property, after deduction of costs above
described, is to be divided as follows:  75% to the Law Enforcement Agency and 25% to
the State's Attorney.

• If personal property, including passenger vehicles, pick-ups trucks, sport utility vehicles,
vans, tractor trailers, etc., are to be used for law enforcement purposes pursuant to Article
59.06 (b) of the Texas Code of Criminal Procedures, the Law Enforcement Agency shall
obtain the title of said vehicles and will be solely responsible for their use and

201



MOU – Chapter 59 
Hidalgo County District Attorney – Mercedes PD 

2 

maintenance.  The State's Attorney will not retain an interest in said vehicles and will be 
completely absolved of any liability. 

• If personal property, including vehicles that are retained by the Law Enforcement
Agency for law enforcement purposes are at any time decommissioned and then sold,
net proceeds from the sale of said property, after deduction of costs above described, is
to be divided as follows:  75% to the Law Enforcement Agency and 25% to the State's
Attorney.

All property seized in accordance with this Agreement, with the exception of currency, bank 
accounts, negotiable instruments, and jewelry, shall be kept in the possession of the Law 
Enforcement Agency.  The Law Enforcement Agency shall be responsible for the upkeep and 
maintenance of said property and the State's Attorney will be completely absolved of any liability. 

The parties further agree that the Law Enforcement Agency shall account for all seized property in 
their possession until the property is disposed of by court order.  Disposition of all property shall 
comply with Article 59 of the Texas Code of Criminal Procedure. 

All other personal property, not suitable for nor desired for use, pursuant to Article 59 of the Texas 
Code of Criminal Procedure, shall be forfeited to the State's Attorney, as an agent for the State of 
Texas, and shall be sold at public auction.  The net proceeds of said sale of said property, after 
deduction of sale expenses, shall be divided as follows:  60%  to the Law Enforcement Agency and 
40% to the State's Attorney. 

For the purposes of this Agreement, the definition of "Personal Property" includes, but is not 
limited to, vehicles of all types, weapons, laptops, computers, cell phones, jewelry, gold, and other 
precious metals and tangible objects of value.  The Law Enforcement Agency and the State's 
Attorney reserve the right to negotiate unique individual agreements on a case by case basis to 
satisfy special requirements; however, if an agreement cannot be reached, this local agreement shall 
be binding. 

2. REAL ESTATE, upon sale of real estate, all court costs, attorney ad litem fees, depositions, title
searches, title policies, confidential informants, storage costs, and all other related costs shall be paid
or credited to the Law Enforcement Agency if such cost have been previously paid by the Law
Enforcement Agency, from the final sum received, with the remaining amounts disbursed to the Law
Enforcement Agency and the State’s Attorney as agreed upon for CURRENCY, BANKING
ACCOUNTS and NEGOTIABLE INSTRUMENTS in Paragraph 3 below.

3. CURRENCY, BANKING ACCOUNTS, and NEGOTIABLE  INSTRUMENTS, upon being
awarded to the State via court order, are to be disbursed and divided up as follows, after the payment
of costs:

Amount  Law Enforcement Agency State's Attorney 

Over $50,000.00  70% 30% 

Less than $50,000.00 60% 40% 

4. JEWELRY will be sold and its proceeds divided as follows:
60% to the Law Enforcement Agency and 40% to the State's Attorney.

Currency, bank accounts, negotiable instruments and jewelry shall be held and maintained by the State's 

202



MOU – Chapter 59 
Hidalgo County District Attorney – Mercedes PD 

3 

Attorney pending final disposition via court order.  However, the parties agree that the State's Attorney 
may exercise discretion and allow the Law Enforcement Agency to maintain physical possession of the 
currency, bank account, negotiable instruments and jewelry where feasible. 

The State's Attorney agrees that remaining contraband, after retention of the above stated portion for the 
State's Attorney, shall be retained by the Law Enforcement Agency for law enforcement purposes only. 

The Law Enforcement Agency and the State's Attorney agree that all costs involved in the forfeiture of the 
above mentioned money and property shall be paid first and the remaining sum shall be divided and 
disbursed according to the provisions contained within this agreement.  The parties further agree that the 
percentages will be determined prior to the payment of costs. 

In the event costs to prosecute forfeiture of "contraband" seized pursuant to Chapter 59 of the Texas Code 
of Criminal Procedure, including court costs, attorney ad litem fees, depositions, title searches, title policies, 
confidential informants, storage costs, and all other related costs exceed the net proceeds of the sale of said 
contraband, the State’s Attorney agrees to pay 50% and the Law Enforcement Agency agrees to pay 50% 
of those costs.   

This agreement shall apply to all money and/or property seized and all money or property sold by the said 
Law Enforcement Agency on or after the date this agreement is signed.  Money and property shall be 
considered forfeited to the State once a forfeiture judgment has become final, and no Motion for New Trial 
or Notice of Appeal has been taken. 

Proceeds from the sale of real, personal, tangible or intangible property subject to this Agreement shall be 
apportioned within thirty (30) days of said sale, or pursuant to any other agreements reached between the 
parties.  Distribution to each party shall be made according to this Local Agreement and Article 59.06(a) 
of the Texas Code of Criminal Procedure. 

The term of this agreement shall be for a period of one (1) year upon execution.  This Agreement shall 
automatically be renewed on a yearly basis after the initial one (1) year term.  This Agreement may be 
terminated by either party upon thirty (30) days prior written notice thereof to the other of its intention to 
terminate upon the date specified in such notice.  Any pending forfeiture under this Agreement, filed prior 
to the termination date, however, shall not be affected by such notices. 

Any notice, payment, statement, or demand required or permitted to be given hereunder by either party to 
the other may be effected by personal delivery, in writing or by certified mail.  Mailed notices shall be 
addressed to the parties at the addresses appearing below, and any change of address must be made by 
written notice in accordance with this section.  Mail notices shall be deemed communicated as of three (3) 
days after mailing or upon certified mail receipt. 

Notice to State’s Attorney: 100 N. Closner, Room 303 
Hidalgo County, Courthouse 
Edinburg, Texas 78539 

Notice to Law Enforcement Agency: 316 S. Ohio Avenue 
Mercedes, Texas 78570 

The Law Enforcement Agency further agrees to pay all costs incurred if the forfeiture action does not 
result in the property being found to be contraband. 

203



MOU – Chapter 59 
Hidalgo County District Attorney – Mercedes PD 

4 

The Law Enforcement Agency agrees to return all real, personal, tangible or intangible property or proceeds 
therefrom, if a bill of review is successfully taken against the State. 

CITY OF MERCEDES POLICE DEPARTMENT 

By:___________________________________________________ ______________ 
Pedro Estrada, Chief of Police Date 

OFFICE OF CRIMINAL DISTRICT ATTORNEY, 
HIDALGO COUNTY, TEXAS 

By:___________________________________________________ ______________ 
Ricardo Rodriguez, Jr., Hidalgo County District Attorney Date 

APPROVED AS TO FORM 
Hidalgo County District Attorney's Office 

By:_________________________Date:________ 
Josephine Ramirez Solis, Assistant DA 

204



STATE OF TEXAS  § 

§ 

COUNTY OF HIDALGO § 

INTERLOCAL COOPERATION AGREEMENT 

 BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF HIDALGO, TEXAS, AND THE CITY OF 

MERCEDES, TEXAS 

THIS Agreement is made on and entered into effective as of the ______ day of _____________, 

2023, by and between COUNTY OF HIDALGO, TEXAS, by and through its Precinct 1, 

hereinafter referred to as (“County”), and CITY OF MERCEDES hereinafter referred to as 

(“City”), collectively referred to as “Parties” and pursuant to the provisions of the Texas Interlocal 

Cooperation Act (“Act”), Chapter 791, et seq., Texas Government Code, as follows: 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, the City is a municipality defined as a “Local Government” under the ACT, 

and a political subdivision organized under the laws of the State of Texas, within the boundary of 

Hidalgo County; and 

WHEREAS, the County is defined as a “Local Government” under the ACT, a political 

subdivision organized under the laws of the State of Texas; and 

WHEREAS, the County and City, each pursuant to its statutory and constitutional 

authority, are responsible for maintenance and improvements to certain public roadways within 

their boundaries; 

WHEREAS, the County and City desire to jointly undertake a road reconstruction and 

improvement project to a portion of Dawson Road (aka Mile ½ Road in the County jurisdiction) 

from Mile 8 North Road extending South approximately 1,324 total linear feet (the “Road” or 

“Project”), (See Exhibit A – Dawson Rd. Improvements Project map); the road forms an integral 

part of the County and Mercedes road system and such improvements to the Road is in the public 

interest of the County and City. 

WHEREAS, Parties have agreed to the Cost Estimate for the Project attached in Exhibit 

B, wherein City shall be responsible for paying County for 100% of the labor and materials needed 

for the Project. (See Exhibit B – Dawson Rd. Project Cost Estimate). 

WHEREAS, the County and the City are authorized to enter into this Agreement pursuant 

to the Act, which authorizes local governments to contract with each other and with agencies of 

the state, to perform governmental functions and services under the terms of the Act; and pursuant 

to the Section 251.012 of the Texas Transportation Code which authorizes counties to improve 

roadways within the limits of a City with the City’s consent. 

Item 11F

205



Interlocal Cooperation Agreement – County of Hidalgo & City of Mercedes (Dawson Rd. Improvements) 
Page 2 of 10 

WHEREAS, County and City have determined the Project will serve a public purpose and 

provide a mutual benefit to each other.  

NOW, THEREFORE, the County and the City, in consideration of the mutual covenants 

expressed hereinafter, agree as follows: 

1. The parties agree to cooperate in making the necessary reconstruction and improvements

to the road in the Dawson Rd. Project as described on Exhibit A attached hereto.

2. The City has an Urban County Project which consists of Street Improvement utilizing

Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) funds.

3. City, through its CDBG funds, agrees to pay the lump sum amount upon execution of this

Agreement, and before work commences, equal to all of the cost of materials and all other

related appurtenances if funding is available. (See Exhibit B – Estimate). The Hidalgo

County Urban County Program will process all Purchase Orders needed for materials

utilizing the County of Hidalgo contracted vendors.

4. In the event that the Urban County funding is exhausted or if a specific material or related

appurtenance is not covered by CDBG funds, the City shall be responsible for providing

all additional funds needed for materials or other related appurtenances needed to complete

the Project.

5. In the event additional materials are needed to complete the Project, the County shall

provide a cost estimate of the additional materials needed for approval by the City;

additional materials will have to be paid before work on the Project continues.

6. County agrees to provide all labor and machinery necessary to perform the improvements

to the Road.

7. City agrees to pay the lump sum amount, 30 days after completion of the Project, equal to

all of the cost of labor. (See Exhibit B – Estimate).

8. County will, to the extent reasonably possible, follow the County’s standard specifications

in improvements unless otherwise agreed in writing by both parties.

9. County and City will coordinate work schedules in order to provide for minimal disruption

to the public and to the operational fiscal affairs of the parties and will complete both the

Project no later than 365 days from the execution of this Agreement.

206



 
Interlocal Cooperation Agreement – County of Hidalgo & City of Mercedes (Dawson Rd. Improvements) 
Page 3 of 10 

 

10. Prior Agreements. This Agreement replaces and supersedes any and all prior agreements 

between County and City with respect to the Road and/or Project except for any lnterlocal 

Agreement dated prior to this Agreement to the extent work is being performed thereunder at 

the time of executing this Agreement. Once ongoing work under any such previous Interlocal 

Agreement(s) is completed and payment is remitted such previous Interlocal Agreement shall 

terminate at such time. 

 

11. Authorization. City has authorized County to perform the work herein described pursuant 

to Tex. Trans. Code §251.012. 

 

12. Term.  The effective date of this agreement shall be the date first written above.  The term 

of the Agreement shall be for the time period referenced above.  

 

13. Termination. Either Party may terminate this Agreement with or without cause upon thirty 

(30) days written notice to each other.   

 

14. Liability Insurance.  Each entity will carry sufficient liability insurance at the statutorily 

required limits, pursuant to the Texas Tort Claims Act. 

 

15. Indemnification.  

 

A. By the CITY: To the extent permitted under the Constitution and laws of the State 

of Texas,  the CITY agrees to indemnify and hold harmless and defend COUNTY, 

its agents, employees and officers from and against any claim, loss, damage, 

liability and expense, including reasonable attorney’s fees, incurred or suffered 

by it, by reason of any and all claims, demands or causes of action asserted or that 

may be asserted, against the COUNTY, for the intentional or negligent acts or 

omissions by the CITY, whether seeking compensatory or punitive damages, and 

involving, arising out of, or in any manner related to this agreement. 

 

B. By the COUNTY: To the extent permitted under the Constitution and laws of the 

State of Texas,  the COUNTY agrees to indemnify and hold harmless and defend 

CITY, its agents, employees and officers from and against any claim, loss, damage, 

liability and expense, including reasonable attorney’s fees, incurred or suffered 

by it, by reason of any and all claims, demands or causes of action asserted or that 

may be asserted, against the CITY, for the intentional or negligent acts or 

omissions by the COUNTY, whether seeking compensatory or punitive damages, 

and involving, arising out of, or in any manner related to this agreement. 

 

16. Immunities.  It is expressly understood and agreed that, in the execution of this agreement, 

neither the City nor County waive, nor shall be deemed hereby to waive, any immunity or 

207



Interlocal Cooperation Agreement – County of Hidalgo & City of Mercedes (Dawson Rd. Improvements) 
Page 4 of 10 

defense that would otherwise be available to it against claims arising in the exercising of 

governmental powers and functions. 

17. Conflict with Applicable Law.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed so as to

require the commission of any act contrary to law, and whenever there is any conflict

between any provision of this Agreement and any present or future law, ordinance or

administrative, executive or judicial regulation, order or decree, or amendment thereof,

contrary to which the parties have no legal right to contract, the later shall prevail, but in

such event the affected provision or provision of this Agreement shall be modified only to

the extent to bring them within the legal requirements and only during the times such

conflict exists.

18. No Waiver.  No waiver by any party hereto of any breach of any provisions of the

Agreement shall be deemed to be a waiver of any preceding or succeeding breach of the

same or any other provision hereof.

19. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement contains the entire contract between the parties

hereto, and each party acknowledges that neither has made (either directly or through any

agent or representative) any representation or agreement in connection with this Agreement

not specifically set forth herein.  This Agreement may be modified or amended only by

agreement in writing executed by County and City and not otherwise.

20. Texas Law to Apply. This Agreement shall be construed under and in accordance with

the laws of the State of Texas, and all obligation of the parties created hereunder are

performable in Hidalgo County, Texas.  The parties hereby consent to personal jurisdiction

in Hidalgo County, Texas.

21. Notice.  Except as may be otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement, all notices,

demands, requests or communication required or permitted hereunder shall be in writing

and shall either be (i) personally delivered against a written receipt, or (ii) sent by registered

or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid and addressed to the parties at

the addresses set forth below, or at such other addresses as may have been theretofore

specified by written notice delivered in accordance herewith:

If to City of City of Mercedes, Texas 

Attention: Mayor 

400 S. Ohio Ave. 

Mercedes, Texas 78570 

With copy to: City of Mercedes, Texas 

Attention: City Manager 

208



Interlocal Cooperation Agreement – County of Hidalgo & City of Mercedes (Dawson Rd. Improvements) 
Page 5 of 10 

400 S. Ohio Ave. 

Mercedes, Texas 78570 

If to County of Hidalgo: County of Hidalgo 

Attention: County Judge 

100 E. Cano, 2nd Floor 

Edinburg, Texas 78539 

With copy to: Hidalgo County Precinct 1 

Attention: Commissioner, Precinct 1 

1902 Joe Stephens Avenue 

Weslaco, Texas 78596 

Each notice, demand, request or communication, which shall be delivered or mailed in the 

manner described above, shall be deemed sufficiently given for all purposes at such time 

as it is personally delivered to the addressee or, if mailed, at such time as it is deposited in 

the United States mail. 

22. Additional Documents.  The parties hereto covenant and agree that they will execute such

other and further instruments and documents as are or may become necessary or convenient

to effectuate and carry out the terms of this Agreement.

23. Successors.   This Agreement shall be binding upon and to the benefit of the parties hereto

and their respective successors and assigns where permitted by this Agreement.

24. Assignments. This Assignment shall not be assignable.

25. Headings.  The headings and captions contained in this Agreement are solely for

convenience reference and shall not be deemed to affect the meaning or interpretation of

any provision of any paragraph hereof.

26. Gender and Number.  All pronouns used in this Agreement shall include the other gender,

whether used in the masculine, feminine or neuter gender, and singular shall include the

plural whenever and so often as may be appropriate.

27. Non-Discrimination.  The Agreement and all related activities shall be conducted in a

manner that does not discriminate against any person on a basis prohibited by applicable

law or County and City policy, including without limitation race, color, national origin,

religion, sex, age, veteran status, disability or any other category protected under law.

209



Interlocal Cooperation Agreement – County of Hidalgo & City of Mercedes (Dawson Rd. Improvements) 
Page 6 of 10 

28. Governmental Purpose.  Each party hereto is entering into this Agreement for the purpose

of providing for governmental services or functions and will pay for such services out of

current revenues available to the paying party as herein provided.

29. Commitment of Current Revenues Only.  In the event that, during any term hereof, the

governing body of any party does not appropriate sufficient funds to meet the obligations

of such party under this Agreement, then any party may terminate this Agreement upon

(90) days’ written notice to the other party.  Each of the parties hereto agrees, however, to

use its best efforts to secure funds necessary for the continued performance of this

Agreement.  The parties intend this provision to be a continuing right to terminate this

Agreement at the expiration of each budget period of each party hereto pursuant to the

provisions of Tex. Loc. Govt. Code Ann. §271.903

30. Governing Provisions.  Parties shall comply with all applicable laws and regulations.  A

non-exclusive list of regulations commonly applicable to Federal and State grants and

equipment can be found in the new 2 CFR 200 Uniform Administrative Requirements,

Cost Principles and Audit Requirements.

31. Legal Construction/Severability.  In case any one or more of the provisions contained in

this Agreement will for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any

respect, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability will not affect any other provision

thereof, and this Agreement will be construed as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable

provision had never been contained herein.

32. Authority to Execute.  The execution and performance of this Agreement by the Parties

has been duly authorized by all necessary laws, resolutions or corporate action, and this

Agreement constitutes the valid and enforceable obligations of the Parties in accordance

with its terms.

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW] 

210



Interlocal Cooperation Agreement – County of Hidalgo & City of Mercedes (Dawson Rd. Improvements) 
Page 7 of 10 

WITNESS THE HANDS OF THE PARTIES effective as of the day and year first written 

above. 

APPROVED BY COMMISSIONERS’ COURT ON Month 00, 2023. 

Agenda Item No. __________ Executive Office: ____________ 

CITY OF MERCEDES: COUNTY OF HIDALGO:       

___________________________________ __________________________________ 

Oscar D. Montoya Sr., Mayor  Hon. Richard F. Cortez, County Judge 

ATTEST: ATTEST: 

___________________________________ ___________________________________ 

Joselynn Castillo, City Secretary Arturo Guajardo, Jr., County Clerk 

APPROVED AS TO FORM 

Office of the Criminal District Attorney, 

Ricardo Rodriguez, Jr. 

_________________________________ 

Michelle Lopez, Assistant District Attorney 

211



Interlocal Cooperation Agreement – County of Hidalgo & City of Mercedes (Dawson Rd. Improvements) 
Page 8 of 10 

STATE OF TEXAS  § 

§ 

COUNTY OF HIDALGO § 

APPROVAL OF 

INTERLOCAL COOPERATION AGREEMENT 

PROJECT 

In accordance with Texas Government Code §791.014, Hidalgo County, Texas, acting by 

and through the Hidalgo County Commissioners Court, has been advised of a proposed project 

whereby the County of Hidalgo and the City of Mercedes desire to jointly undertake a road 

reconstruction and improvement project consisting of a portion of Dawson Road from Mile 8 road 

going South 1324 linear feet (.25 miles). Dawson Road is known as Mile ½ Road in areas within 

the jurisdiction of the County, and the road forms an integral part of the County and Mercedes road 

system. Road improvements are to be conducted through an Interlocal Cooperation Agreement 

between the City of Mercedes, Texas, and Hidalgo County. 

By vote on  ______________ 2023, the Hidalgo County Commissioners Court 

has approved the Project identified above. 

BY: Richard F. Cortez, County Judge 

ATTEST: 

Arturo Guajardo, Jr., County Clerk 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

Office of the Criminal District Attorney 

Ricardo Rodriguez, Jr. 

BY: 

       Michelle Lopez, Assistant District Attorney 

212



Interlocal Cooperation Agreement – County of Hidalgo & City of Mercedes (Dawson Rd. Improvements) 
Page 9 of 10 

Exhibit A  

Dawson Rd. Improvements Project Map 

213



Exhibit A

214



Interlocal Cooperation Agreement – County of Hidalgo & City of Mercedes (Dawson Rd. Improvements) 
Page 10 of 10 

Exhibit B 

 Dawson Rd. Project Cost Estimate 

215



216


	2-7-23 Agenda
	Packet
	Item 5B - Agenda Items-Proclamation Coach Adame
	Item 7A - 1-17-23 Regualr Meeting Min
	Item 7B - 2023-01 - Election Ordinance 2023
	Item 7C - 2023-02 - Animal Ordinance Mercedes Final
	Item 9A - 2023-03 - Mercedes Water and Wastewater Rate Ordinance - Draft
	Item 9B - 2023-02 - Supporting Legislation for Solid Waste by Hidalgo County
	Item 9C1 - February 7, 2022-UC-CC Agenda Item-Final Work Plan-Resolution
	Item 9C2 - 2-7-2023-Resolution Form-FY36-2023
	Item 9D1 - 2023-04 - PD Reserve Program
	Item 9D2 - 2023-04 - PD Reserve Program
	Item 9D3 - 2023-04 - PD Reserve Program
	Item 9E1 - Explorers Program
	Item 9E2 - Explorers Program
	Item 9E3 - Explorers Program
	Item 9F - 2023-06 - CITIES SUPPORTING RGV MARATHON RUN
	Item 10A - HPC grant reimbursement
	Item 10C1 - MOU with TAG
	Item 10C2 - MOU with TAG
	Item 10C3 - MOU with TAG
	Item 11A - RGVLS 2023 City of Mercedes
	Item 11B1 - City of Mercedes Interolocal Agreement_
	Item 11B2 - City of Mercedes Interolocal Agreement_
	ARPA Program Subrecipient Monitoring Policy
	Recovery Plan Draft Cover (1)
	ARPA Subrecipient Policy 6.28
	subrecipient - Monitoring Policy



	Item 11B3 - City of Mercedes Interolocal Agreement_
	Item 11B4 - City of Mercedes Interolocal Agreement_
	Item 11B5 - City of Mercedes Interolocal Agreement_
	Item 11C1 - CONTRACT EXTENSION - Judge Alvarez
	Item 11C2 - CONTRACT EXTENSION - Judge Alvarez
	Item 11D1 - Contract TIF Services
	Item 11D2 - Contract TIF Services
	Item 11E1 - Chapter 59
	Item 11E2 - Chapter 59
	Item 11F - ILA-DRAFT HC & City of Mercedes(Dawson Rd. Improvement-South .25 miles from Mile 8 Rd.) (1)
	Item 11F2 - Dawson Rd (Mile 8 N going S. 0.25 Miles) Map
	Item 11F3 - Dawson Rd (Mile 8 N going S. 0.25 Miles) Map


	Date3_af_date: 
	Date4_af_date: 
	Text5: 2023
	Text6: City of Mercedes: Paramedic Initiative
	Text7: 22-110-113
	1 Entity Name: City of Mercedes
	2 Contact Name: Javier Campos, Jr.
	3 Contact Title: Fire Chief/EMC
	4 Mailing Address Street city state and ZIP code: 105 N. Ohio Ave., Mercedes, TX, 78570
	5 Contact Phone ext: 302
	9 Invoice NoRow1: ARPA-22-110-113
	11 Check NoRow1: 
	12  Check AmtRow1: 
	14 Project NameRow1: City of Mercedes: Paramedic Initiative
	15 Approved AmtRow1: $34,310.00
	16 Expense CategoryRow1: 
	9 Invoice NoRow2: 
	11 Check NoRow2: 
	12  Check AmtRow2: 
	14 Project NameRow2: 
	15 Approved AmtRow2: 
	16 Expense CategoryRow2: 
	9 Invoice NoRow3: 
	11 Check NoRow3: 
	12  Check AmtRow3: 
	14 Project NameRow3: 
	15 Approved AmtRow3: 
	16 Expense CategoryRow3: 
	9 Invoice NoRow4: 
	11 Check NoRow4: 
	12  Check AmtRow4: 
	14 Project NameRow4: 
	15 Approved AmtRow4: 
	16 Expense CategoryRow4: 
	9 Invoice NoRow5: 
	11 Check NoRow5: 
	12  Check AmtRow5: 
	14 Project NameRow5: 
	15 Approved AmtRow5: 
	16 Expense CategoryRow5: 
	9 Invoice NoRow6: 
	11 Check NoRow6: 
	12  Check AmtRow6: 
	14 Project NameRow6: 
	15 Approved AmtRow6: 
	16 Expense CategoryRow6: 
	9 Invoice NoRow7: 
	11 Check NoRow7: 
	12  Check AmtRow7: 
	14 Project NameRow7: 
	15 Approved AmtRow7: 
	16 Expense CategoryRow7: 
	9 Invoice NoRow8: 
	11 Check NoRow8: 
	12  Check AmtRow8: 
	14 Project NameRow8: 
	15 Approved AmtRow8: 
	16 Expense CategoryRow8: 
	9 Invoice NoRow9: 
	11 Check NoRow9: 
	12  Check AmtRow9: 
	14 Project NameRow9: 
	15 Approved AmtRow9: 
	16 Expense CategoryRow9: 
	9 Invoice NoRow10: 
	11 Check NoRow10: 
	12  Check AmtRow10: 
	14 Project NameRow10: 
	15 Approved AmtRow10: 
	16 Expense CategoryRow10: 
	9 Invoice NoRow11: 
	11 Check NoRow11: 
	12  Check AmtRow11: 
	14 Project NameRow11: 
	15 Approved AmtRow11: 
	16 Expense CategoryRow11: 
	9 Invoice NoRow12: 
	11 Check NoRow12: 
	12  Check AmtRow12: 
	14 Project NameRow12: 
	15 Approved AmtRow12: 
	16 Expense CategoryRow12: 
	9 Invoice NoRow13: 
	11 Check NoRow13: 
	12  Check AmtRow13: 
	14 Project NameRow13: 
	15 Approved AmtRow13: 
	16 Expense CategoryRow13: 
	9 Invoice NoRow14: 
	11 Check NoRow14: 
	12  Check AmtRow14: 
	14 Project NameRow14: 
	15 Approved AmtRow14: 
	16 Expense CategoryRow14: 
	9 Invoice NoRow15: 
	11 Check NoRow15: 
	12  Check AmtRow15: 
	14 Project NameRow15: 
	15 Approved AmtRow15: 
	16 Expense CategoryRow15: 
	12  Check Amt13 TOTAL: 
	15 Approved Amt17 TOTAL: 
	16 Expense Category17 TOTAL: 
	Text1: 956-565-7755 
	Check Box2: Yes
	Check Box3: Off
	Text4: 34,310.00
	Date5_af_date: 1/17/23
	Date6_af_date: 12/31/24
	Text30: MER
	Text31: 1
	Date32_af_date: 
	Date33_af_date: 
	Date34_af_date: 
	Date35_af_date: 
	Date36_af_date: 
	Date37_af_date: 
	Date38_af_date: 
	Date39_af_date: 
	Date40_af_date: 
	Date41_af_date: 
	Date42_af_date: 
	Date43_af_date: 
	Date44_af_date: 
	Date45_af_date: 
	Date46_af_date: 
	21 Name: 
	22 Title: 
	26 Name: 
	29 Name: 
	Check Box7: Off
	Check Box8: Off
	Check Box9: Off
	Check Box10: Off
	Check Box11: Off
	Check Box12: Off
	Check Box13: Off
	Check Box14: Off
	Check Box16: Off
	Check Box18: Off
	Check Box19: Off
	Check Box21: Off
	Check Box22: Off
	Check Box23: Off
	Date25_af_date: 
	Date26_af_date: 
	Date27_af_date: 


